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. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

What follows is the product of interviews with more than 70 witnesses and the review of
more than 250,000 documents, including the personal texts and emails of the Governor, the
Lieutenant Governor, and their senior staffers, over the past two months. We were tasked by the
Office of the Governor to investigate (i) allegations concerning the George Washington Bridge
toll lane realignment at Fort Lee, and (ii) Mayor Zimmer’ s alegations concerning Superstorm
Sandy aid allocations to Hoboken. Based on our investigation, we are now in a position to
address most but not all of these allegations, as several key witnesses have refused to cooperate
with our investigation or asserted their Fifth Amendment rights. But we have had the
cooperation of all current members of the Governor’s Office, former members of that Office, and
other independent witnesses aswell. We are therefore confident that, based on our thorough
review, we have a clear understanding of what happened here, even if the participants precise
motives remain to be determined. We were also tasked by the Governor’ s Office to make
recommendations, as warranted by our findings, to promote best practices going forward. Here
isasummary of our findings and recommendations.

A. George Washington Bridge Toll Lane Realignment At Fort Lee

From September 9 to 13, 2013, the Port Authority realigned two of the three George
Washington Bridge toll lanes dedicated to local access from Fort Lee, thereby causing massive
local traffic congestion for those trying to access the bridge from Fort Lee There was no
apparent forewarning to the Fort Lee Mayor’s Office, the local police force, or local emergency
services.? Some Port Authority officials claimed this was just a study to assess a longstanding
traffic issue, but it soon thereafter emerged that, even within the Port Authority, this traffic

study was so closely held that its Executive Director complained he did not know about it at the



time and therefore put a stop to it on September 13, 2013.* Rumors started to swirl that this toll
lane realignment may have been done to target Fort Lee Mayor Mark Sokolich, a Democrat,
because he did not endorse Governor Christie for re-election.” And questions remained in any
event about what ulterior motives there may have been for conducting such atraffic study at that
point in time, what role the Governor and/or anyone on his staff may have played in that
decision, and whether anyone tried to cover up the truth after it became a public controversy.

1. TheParticipantsin ThisAct

Our investigation found that David Wildstein (then of the Port Authority) and Bridget
Kelly (then one of the Deputy Chiefs of Staff in the Governor’s Office) knowingly participated
in this plan to realign toll lanes |eading onto the George Washington Bridge at Fort Lee, at least
in part, for some ulterior motive to target Mayor Sokolich. Our investigation also found that Bill
Stepien (then the Governor’s campaign manager) and Bill Baroni (then the Deputy Executive
Director of the Port Authority) knew of thisideain advance, but we found no evidence that they
knew of the ulterior motive here, besides the claimed purpose of conducting a traffic study.® As
to whether anyone else may have knowingly participated in this plan to target Mayor Sokolich,
our investigation has not found any evidence of anyone else’s involvement.

What motivated this act is not yet clear. The common speculation that thiswas an act of
political retaliation because Mayor Sokolich failed to endorse the Governor for re-election’ is not
established by the evidence that we have seen. By his own account, Mayor Sokolich had a
“good relationship” with the Christie Administration.? He was therefore considered a Democrat
who might cross party lines to endorse the Governor’s re-election.’ But by late March 2013,
both the Governor’s Office and his campaign knew that Mayor Sokolich would not be
endorsing,™ yet that had no apparent effect upon his working relationship with the Christie

Administration over the next several months. Indeed, by April 2013, Sokolich was no longer on
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the list of Mayors whose endorsement the campaign would be seeking; yet in mid-May 2013, he
remained on alist of Mayors being considered for honorary appointments by the Governor.**
And when speculation of political retaliation surfaced as a reason for this lane realignment,
Mayor Sokolich said he found it “incomprehensible that there' s any truth whatsoever to these
rumors.” 2

Something happened to change this dynamic dramatically, however, in August 2013. By
that time, Kelly had become Deputy Chief of Staff,™® assuming the post left vacant by her
predecessor, Stepien, who had departed in April 2013 to run the Governor’ s re-election
campaign.’* Because Stepien was her “benefactor,” Kelly relied heavily on him during this
transition.”> And at some point after Stepien’s departure to run the campaign, Kelly and Stepien
became personally involved, although, by early August 2013, their personal relationship had
cooled, apparently at Stepien’s choice, and they largely stopped speaking.

Around that same time, Wildstein started pressing Port Authority engineers to assess the
traffic effects resulting from the dedicated Fort Leetoll lanes leading onto the George
Washington Bridge.® That Fort Lee was favored with these dedicated toll lanes was an issue
periodically raised within the Port Authority. Indeed, Wildstein himself first raised theissuein
late 2010.%” For some reason yet to be determined, Wildstein seemed to be driving this issue
againin 2013. It wasWildstein’s“idea,” like so many other “crazy” ones he’ d had before that
never got off the ground.

Among his political friends, Wildstein first approached Stepien about thisideato realign
the Fort Lee toll lanes. Stepien, who was no longer a State employee at the time, sidestepped the

guestion, telling Wildstein he would have to go to “ Trenton.” Wildstein then began

communicating with Kelly about that subject using their personal email accounts.*® On August



12, 2013, Kelly reconfirmed that Mayor Sokolich would not be endorsing the Governor for re-
election. Then, on August 13, 2013, she sent Wildstein her now-infamous email: “Time for
some traffic problemsin Fort Lee”*® To which Wildstein knowingly responded: “Got it.” %

We found no evidence up until that point in time of any hostility toward Mayor Sokolich.
But when Kelly learned that one of her staffers, Evan Ridley, apparently met with Mayor
Sokolich afew dayslater on August 16, 2013, she lashed out about it in a series of emails, saying
“l amonfire” “I amirate,” “[W]hy did he think it was ok to meet with Sokolich?” and “He
should not have met with Fort Lee without approval. | am really upset with him.”#

Meanwhile, by late August 2013, Wildstein had received from Port Authority engineers a
“suggested modification” to the Fort Lee lanesin contemplation of an imminent traffic study
there.?? On August 28, 2013, he exchanged emails with Kelly on their personal accounts about
having a“call” that evening “re: Ft. Lee”?

On September 6, 2013, Wildstein instructed Port Authority employees to reduce Fort
Lee'stoll access from three lanes to one,®* apparently giving the impression thiswas “to do a
guick assessment on Fort L ee impacts to be used for a discussion with the Fort Lee Mayor next
week.”® Ininternal emails at the time, Port Authority employees expressed concern: “A single
toll lane operation invites potential disaster.”?® But Wildstein nevertheless forged ahead,
privately emailing Kelly: “I will call you Monday AM to let you know how Fort Lee goes.”*’

Unbeknownst to Fort Lee officials, who apparently received no prior notice,® the Port
Authority’ straffic study was implemented during the rush hour starting on the morning of
September 9, 2013.2° Wildstein showed up personally at the George Washington Bridge to

witness what he had wrought.* The complaints started coming that very morning from Fort Lee

officials, including Mayor Sokolich, who phoned Wildstein's Port Authority boss, Bill Baroni,*



about an “urgent matter of public safety in Fort Lee.”** Instead of returning the call, Baroni
forwarded the message to Wildstein's personal email account.®® Wildstein responded: “radio
silence,”* and then forwarded that exchange to Kelly, joking that Mayor Sokolich’s “name

"3_an apparent reference to Jersey City Mayor Steven Fulop,

comes right after mayor Fulop
whose meetings with Christie Administration officials were cancelled by Kelly the month before.
Kelly responded by thanking Wildstein: “Ty.”°

Later that same day, September 9, 2013, Kelly checked in with her staff to inquire:
“Have you spoken to the Fort Lee Mayor?'® They had not.*®

The very next morning, on September 10, 2013, Kelly and Wildstein gloated over the
problems they were causing Mayor Sokolich. Kelly texted Wildstein: “Isit wrong that | am
smiling?'*® To which Wildstein responded, “No,”* derisively calling the affected Fort Lee
residents “Buono voters’ *—a reference to Governor Christie’'s Democratic opponent, State
Senator Barbara Buono.*

On September 12, 2013, Mayor Sokolich emailed Baroni a letter that “this decision has
negatively impacted public safety here in Fort Lee,”* which Baroni then passed on to
Wildstein.** Thistime, Wildstein forwarded the letter to both Kelly and Stepien on their
personal email accounts.*® And when Kelly learned later from her staff that Mayor Sokolich had
also called to say he was “extremely upset,”* she responded by personal email: “Good.”*’

That same day, September 12, 2013, Wildstein advised Michael Drewniak, the
Governor’s Press Secretary, of a pressinquiry to the Port Authority about the Fort Lee traffic
congestion.”® Wildstein also sent Drewniak a draft response to the inquiry: “The Port Authority
isreviewing traffic safety patterns at the George Washington Bridge to ensure proper placement

of toll lanes. The PAPD has been in contact with Fort Lee police throughout this transition.”“



That evening, Baroni texted Wildstein a message from “ Serbia” *>—an apparent reference to
Mayor Sokolich, who is actually Croatian®—that the Mayor said his “frustration is now trying to
figure out who is mad at me.”*

Meanwhile, at the Port Authority, Executive Director Patrick Foye, a Cuomo
Administration appointee, complained he had not been made aware of this land realignment
decision beforehand and, on the morning of September 13, 2013, emailed that he found this

"33 and was “going to fix this fiasco” by immediately reversing the decision.>

“very troubling
Wildstein then wrote Kelly a private email: “The New Y ork side gave Fort Lee back all three
lanes this morning. We are appropriately going nuts.”* Around the same time, Baroni emailed
Foye that “[t]here can be no public discourse” about the reversal.*®

Days later, though, the controversy had not died down. On September 17, 2013, Mayor
Sokolich again texted Baroni wanting assurances “the recent traffic debacle was not punitive in
nature.”>’ Baroni forwarded the text to Wildstein,®® who forwarded it to Kelly.>® And later that
same day, aWall Sreet Journal reporter called Wildstein, who urgently texted Kelly for
“instructions” and wrote, “1 need to speak with you.”®

On September 17, 2013, The Wall Street Journal’ s story reported “ speculation that the
closures could be retribution for Mr. Sokolich’s decision not to endorse Mr. Christiein hisre-
election bid in November,” but quoted Mayor Sokolich as saying, “I find it incomprehensible
that there’ s any truth whatsoever to these rumors.”®* On the morning of September 18, 2013,
Wildstein forwarded it to Stepien at his personal email account.®? Stepien responded: “It’sfine.
The mayor is an idiot, though. W[in] some, lose some.”®® Admitting too much, Wildstein

replied: “I had empty boxes ready to take to work today, just in case.”® He added: “It will bea

tough November for this little Serbian.”® Wildstein also reached out to Drewniak, admitting he



was “unusually nervous over thisone.”® Drewniak, unaware of any ulterior motive behind this
traffic study, said that the story was “[n]ot so bad. At least it doesn’'t run wild with that crazy
allegation it was done as political retaliation. That was a nutty suggestion.”®’

On October 1, 2013, The Wall Street Journal broke another story, this time reporting on
Foye'sinternal September 13, 2013 email sharply criticizing the traffic study and pulling the
plug onit.®® Stepien texted Wildstein: “Holy shit, who does he [Foye] think heis, Capt.
America?’® And Wildstein replied: “Bad guy. Welcometo our world.””® The next morning,
on October 2, 2013, Wildstein forwarded this article to Stepien at his private email account, and
Stepien responded to Wildstein: “For what it’sworth, | like you more on October 2, 2013 than |
did on October 2, 2009[.]” *

Asthe controversy grew, Wildstein and Kelly attempted to cover it up. Othersinthe
Governor’s Office were being told by Wildstein and Baroni that this was alegitimate traffic
study and an operational issue best |eft to the Port Authority to handle. With Assembly
Committee hearings looming in late November 2013, Wildstein helped prepare Baroni for his
testimony. Baroni told the Committee this was a legitimate traffic study long under
consideration and long overdue because Fort Lee had received favored treatment in the past.”
He even described the study’ s limited but inconclusive results, showing there was improvement
in 1-95 traffic flow as aresult of thistoll lane realignment.”® Baroni also publicly identified
Wildstein as the Port Authority employee responsible for orchestrating the lane realignment.”

By early December 2013, Wildstein was feeling vulnerable, knew he would have to
resign, and then did.” While he continued to insist to the Governor’s Office that thiswas a
legitimate traffic study, even if flawed in its execution, and admitted that thiswas his “idea,” he

tried to deflect blame, telling Drewniak that he had not acted alone, identifying Kelly and



Stepien as others who knew, and claiming he had emailsto proveit. Wildstein even suggested
he mentioned the traffic issue in Fort Lee to the Governor at a public event during the lane
realignment—a reference that the Governor does not recall and, even if actually made, would not
have registered with the Governor in any event because he knew nothing about this decision in
advance and would not have considered another traffic issue at one of the bridges or tunnels to
be memorable. Drewniak passed on Wildstein’s claims to othersin the Governor’s Office.
Others also heard the Kelly email rumors and reported them back to the Governor’ s Office
around that time.

On December 9, 2013, Port Authority officias testified before the Assembly Committee
that Wildstein was behind the lane realignment decision and told them “not to worry” about
notifying Foye or Fort Lee officialsin advance.”® Foye also testified, saying he was not aware of
any actud traffic study.”’

The Governor became concerned about what he was hearing and demanded straight
answers from his senior staff. On December 12, 2013, he had further inquiries made of Kelly
and Stepien. Both denied any involvement in the decision to close these lanes. Kelly even
claimed to have searched her emails, showing a couple to the Governor’s Chief of Staff, Kevin
O’ Dowd, aformer federal prosecutor, but none of the damning private ones proving her advance
knowledge and participation. But Kelly was neverthel ess panicked by what she considered to be
O'Dowd s*“grilling.” She called her staffer, Christina Renna, that same night to make a
desperate request: delete the email that Kelly sent to Renna on September 12, 2013, where

n78

Kelly, upon learning Mayor Sokolich was “extremely upset,”® responded: “Good.””® Despite

Kelly’s attempt to cover her tracks, Renna preserved a copy of that email .2



The very next morning, on December 13, 2013, the Governor convened a special meeting
of his senior staff and also invited Drewniak.®" He stood the entire time and raised hisvoice. He
told them he was concerned they were all suffering from “senioritis’ following the election. He
said the national attention was a double-edged sword: “The spotlight can turn to a searchlight
real quick.” He mentioned a number of miscues but then focused on the George Washington
Bridge lane realignment fiasco. He said words to the effect of: “Thisisamess, and now | have
tocleanit up.” He demanded to know from each of them in that room whether they had any
prior knowledge or involvement in the lane realignment. He said he was going to hold a press
conference later that day to set the record straight. Hetold them to come forward with the truth
that morning, to go tell O’ Dowd or Charles McKenna, then the Governor’s Chief Counsel. “The
confessionals are open,” he said. But Kelly did not come forward. To the contrary, when
guestioned for a second time by O’ Dowd that morning, Kelly continued to deny any
involvement. Later that morning, the Governor held his press conference, saying he had been
“assured” by his senior staff and Stepien that they were not involved. He also announced at the
press conference that Baroni would be replaced at the Port Authority by Deborah Gramiccioni,
one of the Governor's senior staffers and also aformer federal prosecutor.®

The “assurances’ that the Governor had received proved to be inaccurate. When, on the
morning of January 8, 2014, documents subpoenaed by the Assembly Committee surfaced
publicly in the press, they showed Kelly and Stepien communicating with Wildstein about the
Fort Lee lane realignment issue using their personal email accounts.®® Kelly’s email exchanges
with Wildstein were particularly damning because she seemed to be blessing the decision

beforehand for some ulterior motive. Stepien’s showed awareness, but not approval.



That afternoon, on January 8, 2014, the Governor called together histop aides and
advisors at Drumthwacket. It was an emotional session, in which the Governor, welling up with
tears, expressed shock at the revelations, directed Kelly’simmediate firing for lying to him, and
also decided to sever ties with Stepien.

The next morning, on January 9, 2014, the Governor held a press conference for nearly
two hours in which he acknowledged this breach by some close to him, took responsibility for it
happening on his watch, and answered the press's questions.®* That same morning, Kelly texted
her then-former staffer, Renna, admitting her transgression: “I’m sorry to tarnish IGA.”®

Since then, Wildstein, Kelly, and Stepien have asserted their Fifth Amendment rights
against self-incrimination,®® from which adverse inferences can appropriately be drawn.®” No
one else has done s0.% Indeed, we have had the cooperation of every current member of the
Governor’s Office, including the Governor himself, former members of that Office, and other
independent witnesses as well.

2. TheRole Of The Governor

Our investigation found that Governor Christie did not know of the lane realignment
beforehand and had no involvement in the decision to realign the lanes. He does not recall
becoming aware of the lane realignment during the period the lanes were closed, but would not
have considered a traffic issue memorable in any event.®® After the fact, he at first accepted the
explanation being offered by New Jersey’ s representatives at the Port Authority that this was
simply atraffic study, an operational issue to be handled there, and the resulting controversy just
typical in-fighting between the New Y ork and New Jersey contingents. But once the Governor
became aware of Port Authority officials publicly questioning whether this was alegitimate
traffic study and rumors of others' involvement, he made appropriate inquiries and even

convened a specia meeting of his senior staff on December 13, 2013, demanding to know
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whether any of them were involved in this decision, only to belied to by Kelly. When
documents were then publicly released on January 8, 2014, confirming Kelly’ s participation in
the decision to close these lanes and Stepien’ s apparent awareness, Governor Christie called
together histop advisors that same day and, in an emotional session, expressed shock at the
revelations, directed Kelly’ sfiring immediately for lying to him, and also decided to sever ties
with Stepien. The very next day, the Governor held a nearly two-hour press conference to
acknowledge this transgression by some close to him, to take responsibility for it, and to answer
questions from the press.® Then, his Office commissioned this investigation.

Governor Christie’ s account of these eventsringstrue. It iscorroborated by many
witnesses, and he has conducted himself at every turn as someone who has nothing to hide.
Moreover, in al the documents we reviewed (including the personal texts and emails of the
Governor and his senior staff) and from all the witnesses we interviewed, we uncovered nothing
contradicting the Governor’ s account.

3. TheRole Of The Governor’s Senior Staff, Besides Bridget Kelly

We have not found any evidence of any other member of the Governor’s staff, besides
Bridget Kelly, being involved in the decision to realign these George Washington Bridge toll
lanes at Fort Lee. And we have not found any evidence of any other member of the Governor’s
staff, besides Bridget Kelly, doing anything to cover up what happened here after the fact. There
were members of the Governor’s staff who became aware of the lane realignment during or after
the fact, but they understood from Wildstein or Baroni, apparently relying on information
provided him by Wildstein, that this was alegitimate traffic study, no matter how misguided the
Port Authority’ s execution of it, and therefore an operational issue for the Port Authority to deal

with, not the Governor’s Office. And by December 2013, as hearsay and rumors filtered back to
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some in the Governor’s Office about Kelly’ s possible involvement, there was follow-up and
guestioning of Kelly, who denied it.

4. Conclusion

In sum, we have not found any evidence of anyone in the Governor’ s Office knowing
about the lane realignment beforehand or otherwise being involved, besides Bridget Kelly.
Whatever motivated Wildstein and Kelly to act asthey did, it was not at the behest of Governor
Christie, who knew nothing about it.** The Governor and his senior staff gave Kelly the benefit
of the doubt—a decision that was both understandable under the circumstances and reasonable
based on the evidence available to the Governor’s Office at that time. Importantly, the evidence
exposing this operation was not to be found in government files; rather, it was hidden in the
personal email accounts and personal texts of those participating in order to conceal their act. As
other investigations progress, they may uncover, through their subpoena powers, more about the
guestions that remain unanswered, including what really motivated this plan. And consistent
with our mandate, we will continue to facilitate the Governor’s Office' s cooperation.

B. Hoboken Mayor Dawn Zimmer’s Allegations Concer ning Sandy Aid

In allegations made publicly for the first time on a national cable news program on
January 18, 2014, Hoboken Mayor Dawn Zimmer accused the Christie Administration of a
conspiracy at the highest levels to coerce her into advancing a stalled real estate project being
pursued by a private developer (the Rockefeller Group) in exchange for Sandy aid. Mayor
Zimmer has claimed that, starting in May 2013, she repeatedly received threats from high-
ranking State officials, including Lieutenant Governor Kimberly Guadagno, Department of
Community Affairs (“DCA”) Commissioner Richard Constable, and Governor’s Office of
Recovery and Rebuilding (“GORR”) Executive Director Marc Ferzan, as a “ direct message” %

from Governor Christie. In handwritten notes purportedly made “afew days’® after these May
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2013 exchanges, Mayor Zimmer described them as “corrupt”* and wrote that they showed a
“direct connection b/t the Rockefeller p + Sandy funding.”®

Our investigation found that Mayor Zimmer’s allegations are, in material respects,
demonstrably false. They are contradicted by contemporaneous documents, other witnesses
accounts, and her own prior statements. In sum, the subjective perceptions she may have do not
match objective reality, as reflected in the hard evidence uncovered during our investigation.

We note at the outset Mayor Zimmer’ s claim that the Christie Administration held
Hoboken’'s Sandy aid hostage for ulterior political motivesis contradicted by Mayor Zimmer’s
own public statements as recently as aweek before she went public with these accusations.
Indeed, on January 11, 2014—one week before first making her allegations—Mayor Zimmer
told the press that, while disappointed with Hoboken’s Sandy aid, “I don’t think it was retaliation
and | don’t have any reason to think it' s retaliation.”® In fact, after she alleged these threats
were first made in mid-May 2013, she repeatedly heaped praise on Governor Christie for having
“done agreat job for NJ & Hoboken.”®" Indeed, on May 24, 2013, she wrote to the Governor:
“Thank you for your continued advocacy for New Jersey and efforts to rebuild our
communities.”*® Moreover, in October 2013, her Chief of Staff offered in writing to provide
Governor Christie' s re-election campaign with aletter of “support” from Mayor Zimmer, saying
she was “proud to stand with” the Governor because he “was there for us when we needed him
most, responding to the crisis of Superstorm Sandy.”*® Mayor Zimmer’ s statements since mid-
May 2013 do not square with her allegations now that she was supposedly being threatened by
the Christie Administration at that time.

1. Mayor Zimmer’s Specific Allegations

Taking Mayor Zimmer’ s allegations in turn, she has claimed she received threats from

three different Christie Administration officials on three separate occasions:
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a. Mayor Zimmer’'s Exchange With Lieutenant Gover nor Guadagno

Mayor Zimmer has alleged that, two days after she sent aMay 8, 2013 letter to Governor
Christie requesting more Sandy aid, the Lieutenant Governor, having met “w/ the Gov.,”*®
“created”'® apublic event at a ShopRite in Hoboken, invited Mayor Zimmer to attend, and then,
after the May 13, 2013 event, “pulled [her] aside in the parking lot"'% to deliver “adirect
message from the governor”*® that “if you don’t move ahead” ' with the Rockefeller Group's

project, “we' re not going to be able to help you"'®

with more Sandy aid. Mayor Zimmer further
alleged that the Lieutenant Governor said to her at that time: “1 know it’snot right. | know these
things should not be connected, but they are and if you tell anyone, Il deny it.”**® In other
words, to credit Mayor Zimmer’ s account, one would have to believe that Guadagno, a former
federal prosecutor and county sheriff, made a full confession—right there, out in the open, in the
supermarket’ s parking lot, immediately after that public event, with press and staff nearby—that
she was doing something wrong, knew it was wrong, and was doing it anyway.

Our investigation found that Mayor Zimmer’ s account of this exchangeis, in material
respects, demonstrably false:

(1) Guadagno did not meet with the Governor and then create this event to deliver his
message to Mayor Zimmer. In fact, the decision to invite Mayor Zimmer to the event occurred
midday on Friday, May 10, 2013—before Guadagno met with the Governor at a senior staff
retreat |ater that day, as contemporaneous documents show.'%’

(i) Thiswas not a“created”'® event. It was weeksin the planning, as contemporaneous
documents show.

(ii1) It was not the Lieutenant Governor who “pulled” Mayor Zimmer “aside” to have this

private meeting.'® It was actually Mayor Zimmer who requested the meeting, as
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contemporaneous documents show.™® And she requested that meeting to pitch her “[ijmportant
idea” to fund a sweeping, post-Sandy flood mitigation plan for Hoboken.***

(iv) It was Mayor Zimmer who had the Rockefeller Group on her mind, not Guadagno, as
contemporaneous documents show. That is because the Rockefeller Group designed Hoboken's
flood mitigation plan—the same one that Mayor Zimmer was seeking Sandy aid to fund—but its
development project, backed by lawyers she perceived as close to the Governor, had just suffered
a setback before Hoboken’s Planning Board five days earlier when its application for
redevel opment benefits was voted down. Mayor Zimmer was anxious about its status, having
recently written the Governor complaining that “the solution to Hoboken’ s flooding challenges
cannot be dependent on future development.”**

(v) Guadagno had to be firm with Mayor Zimmer during their private meeting, pushing
back on Mayor Zimmer’ s funding demands and unwarranted assumption that the stalled
Rockefeller Group project was why Hoboken was not getting more Sandy aid. And we know
what Guadagno said because she repeated it to the press that same day: “[While] the mayor isa
great advocate for Hoboken, . . . the governor hasto be an advocate for the entire state. We are
trying to [do] the best we can with the resources we have.” 3

(vi) Guadagno has had no role in the Sandy aid decision-making process, which is
formula-driven, based on objective criteria, and subject to federal oversight. Therefore, she
personally could not have affected Hoboken's Sandy aid allocations at all. Moreover, even
though the Rockefeller Group project did not “move ahead,”*'* Hoboken nevertheless then got
all of the CDGB funding it applied for ($200,000),** and its allocation for hazard mitigation

funding is roughly equivalent to what other applying municipalities received ($142,080),™° and

islikely to change when all the grant applications are rescored.**
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Both the Lieutenant Governor and Governor deny Mayor Zimmer’s allegations. And the
Lieutenant Governor’s account of what transpired is corroborated by hard evidence,
contemporaneous with the eventsin question. Mayor Zimmer'sisn't.

b. Mayor Zimmer’s Exchange With DCA Commissioner Constable

Mayor Zimmer has alleged that, just three days after she claimed the Lieutenant
Governor delivered this “ direct message from the governor,”**® Commissioner Constable
delivered the same message as they were both about to appear on a PBS television panel
discussing Sandy’ s aftermath on May 16, 2013.

According to Mayor Zimmer’s account: “We are mic’ d up w/other panelists all around
us— + probably the sound team listening + he [Commissioner Constable] says— | hear you are
against the R project[.] | reply —1 am not against the Rockefeller p—in fact | want more
commercial dev. in Hob.”'*® To which Constable purportedly replied that “everyonein the

statehouse believes u r against it,” and then said: “‘[1]f you move that forward the $ would start

flowing to u.”"*?° From that, Mayor Zimmer surmised: “it is pretty clear what he means by ‘$
will flow.” Nice to know thereis adirect connection b/t the Rockefeller p & Sandy funding.”*?
In other words, to credit Mayor Zimmer’ s account, one would have to believe that Constable,
who is also aformer federa prosecutor and registered Democrat, was part of this conspiracy to
deliver this “direct message”*% from the Governor to Mayor Zimmer, that he managed to place
himself in aposition to do so, and then proceeded to threaten Mayor Zimmer, while “mic’d
up”*#in apublic setting surrounded by other panelists as they were just about to go live on the
air.

Our investigation found that, in material respects, Mayor Zimmer’ s account of this

exchange is demonstrably false:

16



(i) Constable did not seek out Mayor Zimmer to deliver any message from the Governor,
nor did he have any message to deliver. Rather, the panelists were assigned their seats at the
time they arrived for the broadcast. And Constable had not spoken to the Governor or
Lieutenant Governor beforehand about this event, did not attend the Governor’ s senior staff
retreat (as he was not part of the Governor’s senior staff), and did not work in the
“ statehouse.” ***

(if) An independent witness, Belmar Mayor Matthew Doherty, a Democrat, who was
seated next to Mayor Zimmer, reported that Constable never said anything to the effect of, “1f
you move forward” with that private development project, “the money would start flowing to
you.” Infact, Doherty said he did not hear any quid pro quos discussed or threats made that
evening.

(i) Real time photographs of Constable and Mayor Zimmer talking as they were “mic’d
up” on the eve of the broadcast show Mayor Zimmer starting the conversation and doing most of
the talking during it, yawning about midway through, and then smiling at the end—nhardly the
demeanor one would expect of someone who had just been threatened.*®

(iv) Mayor Zimmer isright that Constable used the words, “move forward,” and “money”
will “start flowing,” that evening. But not in his pre-show conversation with Mayor Zimmer.

He said them on the air during the broadcast: “[W]e€ re starting to get the federal moniesto flow.
... You're going to see businesses with capital start to move forward.”*?°

(v) AsDCA Commissioner, Constable has no responsibility for advancing commercial
real estate developments unless they have an affordable housing component, which the
Rockefeller Group’ s project doesn’t. Therefore, he would have had no reason to raise the

Rockefeller Group’s project with Mayor Zimmer in the first instance.
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(vi) Even though the Rockefeller Group’s project did not “move forward,” Hoboken still
got the entire amount it sought in CDGB funding—$200,000*’—which was the only Sandy aid
program administered at the time that directly provided funding to municipalities. In other
words, Constable, having supposedly threatened Mayor Zimmer to no avail, then nevertheless
gave her the entire amount he could of Sandy aid requested by Hoboken from the CDGB
program.

Both Commissioner Constable and the Governor deny Mayor Zimmer’s allegations. And
Commissioner Constable’ s account of what transpired is corroborated by hard evidence,
contemporaneous with the events in question, and an independent witness' s account. Mayor
Zimmer’sis not.

c. Mayor Zimmer’s Exchange With GORR Executive Director
Ferzan

Mayor Zimmer has further claimed that, “a month ago,” in December 2013, before she
made these allegations, she met with GORR Executive Director Marc Ferzan, who oversees the
State’ s Sandy rebuilding effort, and asked him to “ put some support” behind Hoboken’'s
“Rebuild by Design” proposal to HUD.'®® According to Mayor Zimmer, Ferzan replied: “[Y]ou
need to let me know how much development you' re willing to do.”**® She considered this to be
another example of the “pressure” the Christie Administration was placing on her to support
private development in exchange for Sandy aid.** In other words, to credit Mayor Zimmer's
account, one would have to believe that Ferzan, another former federal prosecutor and registered
Independent who left alucrative private sector job at PricewaterhouseCoopers to do this public
service, joined in the conspiracy to threaten Mayor Zimmer and then made these statements to

her in furtherance of the conspiracy.
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Our investigation found that, in material respects, Mayor Zimmer’ s account of this
exchange is demonstrably false:

(i) Mayor Zimmer last met with Ferzan not “a month ago,” but rather, on November 25,
2013, at a briefing attended by many other mayors, staffers and State officials.*** In other words,
Ferzan made whatever statements he did to Mayor Zimmer in a public setting in aroom crowded
with other people.

(i) 1t was not Mayor Zimmer who brought up “Rebuild by Design.” It was Ferzan,
without tying it in any way to support for private economic development, as contemporaneous
documents show. Indeed, a State official kept copious notes of that briefing and captured, in
words or substance, Ferzan's exchange with Mayor Zimmer that day: “Hoboken Mayor Zimmer
asked how the State is going to help urban areas with the second tranche of CDGB-DR
funds. ... Shesaid. .. the city needs some help for things like elevating utilities and elevators.
Marc Ferzan said the State asked [FEMA] about raising utilities and [it] said no. He said
Rebuild by Design is one avenue to consider.”*?

(iii) By that time, Hoboken was already one of 10 finalists (three of which were from
New Jersey) in HUD’ s “Rebuild by Design” competition, likely worth many millions of dollars
in federal Sandy aid to the eventual winner.”** And Mayor Zimmer should have known that
HUD was using an expert jury to pick the winner, that New Jersey officials are not on that jury,
and that there was therefore no real value in New Jersey officials “support[ing]” Hoboken
alone,*** as opposed to continuing to facilitate all three New Jersey contenders, which earned
them “thanks’ from HUD for “extraordinary cooperation”** “digging in with the RDB
teams.” ¥ Y et that misconception seems to be motivating Mayor Zimmer' s allegations now.

Indeed, she told a national news show on January 19, 2014, of her “concern” that “the governor
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ultimately will not support” Hoboken’'s “Rebuild by Design” proposal, and “if | don’t have his
support on this plan, then we're not in a good position to win this competition.”**

(iv) AsMayor Zimmer also should have known, HUD’ s “Rebuild by Design”
competition has expressly encouraged public-private partnerships, advising competitorsit would
“implement selected proposals with both public and private funding dedicated to this effort.”**
Indeed, the President’ s Hurricane Rebuilding Task Force, on whose advisory group Mayor
Zimmer serves, expressly providesin its rebuilding strategy for “using public-private
partnerships to lower project costs’ and “leverage Federal funding.”**® Thus, even had Ferzan
mentioned private development in this context, Mayor Zimmer should have realized that would
have been perfectly appropriate and consistent with the “Rebuild by Design” competition’s
mandate.

(v) Mayor Zimmer never mentioned Ferzan's supposed role in this conspiracy before
January 20, 2014, and only did so that day after Ferzan held a morning press call describing the
State’ s “ objective process,” calling Mayor Zimmer’s claim of unfair treatment for Hoboken a
“mischaracterization,” and saying “1’m scratching my head alittle bit about any community
that' s getting the short end of the stick.”** Only later that day did Mayor Zimmer go on a
national cable news program and name Ferzan as a co-conspirator for the first time.***

(vi) A central premise of Mayor Zimmer’s conspiracy theory is that Hoboken’s Sandy aid
has been “held hostage.”*** But in reality, as dozens of witnesses from State government
familiar with the Sandy aid decision-making process confirmed, there has been no politicization
of that process whatsoever. Not with regard to Hoboken or anyone else. Decisions are made on

the merits, formula-driven, and based on objective criteria, under federal oversight.*** And while

the Rockefeller Group project remains stalled, Hoboken has received multiple Sandy aid
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allocations in recent months and stands to get many millions of dollars more if it wins the
“Rebuild by Design” competition.*** Moreover, Hoboken-affiliated parties have thus far
collectively received nearly $70 million in Sandy funding.

Both Ferzan and the Governor deny Mayor Zimmer’s allegations. And Ferzan’s account
is corroborated by hard evidence, contemporaneous with the events in question, and many other
witnesses accounts. Mayor Zimmer’sisn't.

2. Other FactorsBearing On Mayor Zimmer’s Allegations

There are other factors considered during our investigation that inform our conclusions,
including but not limited to the following:

a. Scope Of The Conspiracy Alleged And Inability To Carry It Out

The conspiracy that Mayor Zimmer has alleged would necessarily have had to include
many actors within various departments of the Christie Administration. That is because she has
claimed that Hoboken’'s Sandy aid was being affected by this conspiracy. In order for that to
have happened, the many individuals responsible for the management and execution of Sandy
aid programs would necessarily have had to become involved in this alleged plot. Thetop aides
to the Governor, Lieutenant Governor, DCA Commissioner, and GORR Executive Director—
who include other former federal prosecutors, aformer State Deputy Attorney General, aformer
senior counsel in the State Attorney General’ s Office, private sector lawyers recruited to help
administer the program, and even an out-of-stater recruited because of her extensive experience
in helping New Orleansin the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina—would have had to know if such
athing ever happened. And to a person, they al say, “No, it didn’t happen.”

Nor could it have. Our investigation found that the Christie Administration has
implemented an objective and transparent process for allocating Sandy aid. It isformula-

driven.** And it is subject to federal oversight.**® Moreover, our investigation found that
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Hoboken has been treated fairly, compared to other New Jersey municipalities, given the scarce
resources available. Indeed, even Mayor Zimmer's press secretary has conceded “the fact that
Hoboken is about on par with other towns in getting a modest amount of aid from state-run
programs,” saying only that it “deserves’ more.*” In other words, the threats that Mayor
Zimmer has alleged were neither carried out, nor could they have been.

b. Mayor Zimmer’s Changing Account Over Time

Mayor Zimmer’s story is also suspect because it keeps changing. By her own account,
she sat on these allegations for more than eight months (despite her public duty to remedy
them),**® continued to praise the Governor publicly in the interim,**° and then, chose to air them
publicly for the first time on anational cable news program, rather than timely report them to law
enforcement authorities.™™ Then, over three successive days of television interviews in January
2014, she dtered her story each time she retold it. For example, at first, she said this message
came from the “Christie Administration,” *>* but then, the next day, called it a“direct message
from the governor.”**> And she never mentioned Marc Ferzan until after he publicly questioned

153 at which point she then named him as a co-conspirator.™ In essence, her

her accusations,
allegations have been a moving target.

c. Mayor Zimmer’sMischaracterization Of The Rockefeller Group’s
Role

Mayor Zimmer now casts the Rockefeller Group in a negative light, but that appearsto be
revisionist history on her part. A year ago, she was “thank[ing]” the Rockefeller Group in her
“State of the City” speech for designing Hoboken’s flood mitigation plan.™> She embraced that
plan and tried to convince State officials to fund its implementation.*® But the Rockefeller
Group’ s development project was adifferent story. Sheis now essentially claiming that the

Rockefeller Group, through its lawyer-lobbyists at Wolff & Samson, unduly influenced the
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Christie Administration. Our investigation found no evidence of anything untoward in those
dedlings. For example, Mayor Zimmer appears to have mischaracterized aMay 9, 2013 meeting
with Christie Administration officials, to which Hoboken officials were invited by Wolff &

Samson, as being about the Rockefeller Group’ s development project, ™’

when contemporaneous
documents show that meeting was really about Hoboken'’ s flood mitigation plan—the one
supported by Mayor Zimmer and designed by the Rockefeller Group’s engineers.™® Moreover,
contemporaneous documents show that the Port Authority’ s decision to fund an economic
development study of Hoboken’s North End in 2010 actually came about at Mayor Zimmer’s
request before Wolff & Samson partner and Christie appointee David Samson even began
serving as the Port Authority’s Chair.™® Hence, Mayor Zimmer’s mischaracterization of the

Rockefeller Group’ srole further undermines her allegations.

d. Lack Of Substantiation For Mayor Zimmer’s Claims

We were unable to substantiate Mayor Zimmer’ s allegations during our investigation.
Through counsel retained for her after she had already gone public with her accusations and
spoken with investigators, Mayor Zimmer declined our request for an interview. Other Hoboken
officials smilarly declined our requests for interviews, although we were able to obtain Hoboken
documents through aformal public records request. Nevertheless, even without Mayor
Zimmer’ s cooperation, we have had the benefit of reviewing her several lengthy television
interviews, and were also able to obtain from media websites copies of handwritten notebook
entries that she provided the press. Asaresult, we are aware of her account and what she has
claimed corroboratesiit.

Mayor Zimmer’ s handwritten notebook, offered as corroboration for her account, is
suspect. It isnot acontemporaneously written document. Rather, on itsface, and by Mayor

Zimmer's own admission, it was written “afew days’ after the events it purports to chronicle.*®
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And its most inflammatory statements appear to have been added even later, written across the
top and down the side of pages.'®* Even crediting this notebook’ s contents as genuine, however,
they are only as accurate as the perceptions of the writer. And based on the hard evidence,
Mayor Zimmer’ s perceptions have not proven to be accurate. Therefore, what other witnesses
say she then told them is not corroboration either because it is as unreliable as the perceptions
she recounts in her handwritten notebook. All of this proffered “corroboration” is, in redlity,
hearsay, from which no credible conclusions can be drawn.

3. Conclusion

In sum, our investigation has concluded that Mayor Zimmer’s alegations are
unsubstantiated and, in material respects, demonstrably false. Whatever subjective perceptions
she may have do not match objective redlity, as reflected in the hard evidence uncovered during
our investigation. Moreover, her allegations are contradicted by contemporaneous documents,
other witnesses accounts, and her own prior statements. Mayor Zimmer herself has called the
sequence of events that she has alleged “unbelievable.”*** Based on our investigation, we would
have to agree.

C. Recommendations

The George Washington Bridge toll lane realignment and the ensuing gridlock resulting
from it, while the actions of afew, are simply unacceptable. Whether in their implementation,
their motivation, or both, they amounted to a breach of public trust that never should have
happened. And never should happen again. With that aim in mind, we make these

recommendations.
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1. Governor’sOffice

Within the Governor’ s Office, we recommend the following:

(a) Restrict the Use Of Personal Email Accounts For Conducting Official State Business
— The individuals responsible for these acts used their personal email accounts to communicate
about this plan. That practice hasto end. Absent extraordinary circumstances, public employees
working in trusted positions should use their official state email accounts when conducting state
business. Asamatter of transparency, accountability, and public access, that is the prudent and
responsible thing to do. The Governor’s Office should also make State employees aware of the
implications, pursuant to public record disclosure and retention requirements, of text messaging
to conduct official state business. Thiswill further promote transparency, accountability and
public access.

(b) Eliminate IGA — Thisisthe office that Bridget Kelly ran as the Governor’s Deputy
Chief of Staff, and Bill Stepien ran before her. Its primary function is constituent service and
intergovernmental affairs, liaising and responding to el ected officials and others as problem
solvers and troubleshooters for constituents and locals officials alike. It appeared to have
functioned very effectively during the first three years of the Governor’ sfirst term, both in terms
of responsiveness and non-partisanship. But then, during the Governor’ s re-election year, under
Kelly’s stewardship, there was aberrational behavior at Kelly’ s direction. While this aberrational
conduct was isolated, it has led to misunderstandings that have created appearance issues for
IGA going forward. We therefore recommend disbanding IGA and reorganizing its functions
within anew and expanded Governor’s Office of Constituent and L egidlative Services,
combining the current IGA and Constituent Relations functions. And the mission of that office
should be made crystal clear: responsiveness in a non-partisan manner that makes it amodel for

good government, responsive to all.
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(c) Appoint An Ombudsperson Within The Governor’s Office Who Would Report
Directly To The Governor And Issue Periodic Public Reports — While what occurred here were
the actions of afew and not reflective of the whole, it is nevertheless concerning that they
occurred at al. To assist the Governor’s Office going forward, and to restore public trust in the
many honorable, dedicated public servants who work there, we propose that the Governor
appoint an Ombudsperson—a senior statesperson of unquestioned integrity and independence—
to serve as a sounding board and resource readily available for receiving complaints within the
Governor’s Office and seeing that they get appropriately responded to. We envision that this
Ombudsperson would report directly to the Governor and issue periodic public reports, at least
annually, on his or her activities. We would also expect the Ombudsperson to help establish the
duties and responsibilities of the new Chief Ethics Officer, described below, who would report to
both the Ombudsperson and the Chief Counsal.

(d) Appoint A Chief Ethics Officer Responsible For Ethics Enforcement, Conflicts And
Training Within the Governor’ s Office — As a prophylactic measure going forward, the Governor
should appoint a Chief Ethics Officer for the Office of the Governor dedicated to (i) addressing
any ethics or conflictsissues asthey arise, and (ii) overseeing training within that office to
ensure that all who work there are aware of and sensitive to their obligations. The Chief Ethics
Officer would report to the Chief Counsel, also report to and work closely with the
Ombudsperson, and have direct access to the Governor.

2. Port Authority

Regarding the Port Authority, we recommend the following:
(a) Coordinate With New Y ork’s Governor To Restructure the Port Authority By
Appointing A Bi-State Commission To Recommend Reforms — This Bi-State Commission

should be tasked to formulate a reform agenda to restructure the Port Authority to ensure its
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independence and professionalism going forward. As the George Washington Bridge incident
demonstrates, divisions between the Port Authority’s New Jersey and New Y ork counterparts
have historically resulted in communication failures, rivalries, and duplication. And the current
appointments structure—whereby one Governor appoints the Chair (and Deputy Executive
Director) and the other Governor appoints the Executive Director (and Vice Chair)—only
exacerbates that division and, at times, leads to dysfunction. In thefirst instance, this Bi-State
Commission should address whether there should be a fundamental restructuring of the Port
Authority, either by recognizing separate New Y ork and New Jersey divisions going forward to
permit each State to have primary responsibility for completing projects within their
jurisdictions, or otherwise reorganizing to ensure independence and professionalism. Moreover,
this Bi-State Commission should address, among other things, potential changes to the terms and
method of appointment of top Port Authority officials. For example, set periods of tenure,
staggered terms of more than four years, and joint approval by both Governors should all be
considered for senior executive positions. Thisis not to say, however, that both States
Governors should necessarily have to await the Commission’ s recommendations. |If the
Governors were to reach agreement on fundamental changes, they could go to their respective
State legid atures immediately to enact the same reform package.

We appreciate that the Port Authority has already taken the constructive step in response
to recent events of establishing a special oversight committee within its own ranks, but an
independent Bi-State Commission is the better vehicle for achieving long-term systemic reform.
This Bi-State Commission should consist entirely of personsindependent of the Port Authority;
it should not include any current Port Authority Commissioners or executives. The reform

agendathat it considers should address systemic operational, structural, and management issues
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at the Port Authority that will ultimately require the approval of both States' legislatures, going
well beyond internal matters within the current scope of its authority. And that isareform
agendathat should be set by an independent “blue-ribbon” panel or else the Governors
themselves working together.

(b) Propose Legidative Reforms To Promote Transparency — There are legidative
proposals pending, and may be more to come, that could advance reform, assuming both states
legislatures agreed. In 2012, both Governor Christie and the New Jersey L egislature advanced
legislation pertaining to transparency, accountability, and oversight of New Jersey’s public
authorities; the Governor’ s legidation applied across the region’ s public authorities, while the
Legidature’ s bill focused on the Port Authority. Neither of these reform efforts became law.
We therefore recommend that the Governor’ s Office propose new or modified public authorities
reform legislation now, in light of past and pending legislative proposals, and with the
recognition that transparency provisions already enacted in New Y ork would automatically apply
to the Port Authority once passed in New Jersey.

3. Other Related Proposals

Finally, regarding both the George Washington Bridge toll lane realignment and
Hoboken Mayor Zimmer’ s claims, there were private allegations, contemporaneous with or
closer in time to the events, of violations of law that apparently went unreported to law
enforcement authorities at the time. In particular, Mayor Zimmer has alleged that in May 2013
she was first threatened by the Christie Administration and wrote in her notebook she considered
those threats to be “corrupt.”**® Y et her allegations were not reported at the time to law
enforcement authorities. Instead, she waited until eight months later in January 2014 to first air

them publicly on anational cable television broadcast.
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The Governor should consider taking steps to require all State and local elected officials,
and perhaps their most senior staffers or cabinet-level appointees, to timely report to law
enforcement authorities, or the inspectors general or chief ethics officers responsible for such
oversight, any conduct that they believe may constitute crimes being committed on their watch,
and imposing appropriate remedies on those public officials who fail to timely report such
alegations. Thiswould ensure timely reporting and investigation of any such allegations. And
it would address the questions that necessarily arise about the motivations and veracity behind

allegations such as Mayor Zimmer’ s that are only first publicly made long after the fact.
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II. SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY OF THE INVESTIGATION

Our mandate, and scope of work, has expanded as allegations asserted have evolved and
multiplied. Below we briefly outline the issues at the heart of our investigation, as well asthe
retention of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP (“Gibson Dunn”) and a description of our key team
members.

A. Issues
1. Allegations Regarding The Geor ge Washington Bridge L ane Realignment

From September 9 to 13, 2013, the access lanes leading to the eastbound toll lanes and
booths on the George Washington Bridge from Fort Lee, New Jersey, were realigned by the Port
Authority of New Y ork and New Jersey (the “Port Authority”). Thislane realignment caused
significant traffic delaysin Fort Lee. Specifically, the three Fort Lee access lanes were realigned
to feed into one toll booth—the southernmost tollbooth— rather than the three southernmost toll
booths previously dedicated to the Fort Lee access lanes.

In the morning hours of September 13, 2013, Port Authority Executive Director Patrick
Foye directed Port Authority managers, engineering staff, and other executives, by internal
email, to immediately reverse the lane realignment and restore the prior alignment of the three
access lanes from Fort Lee.*® That day, The Bergen Record, a New Jersey newspaper,
published a column titled “ Closed tollbooths a commuting disaster,” which reported on the lane
realignment and quoted a Port Authority spokesman’s explanation that the lane realignment was
the result of a“review(] [of] traffic safety patterns’ at the Bridge."®® The column criticized the
Port Authority’s leadership for not having warned motorists about the study, quoted the Fort Lee
police chief stating that Fort Lee officials had not gotten “any answers’ from the Port Authority,
and stated that the publication had received numerous phone calls speculating that the traffic was
some form of political retribution.'®® This theory was repeated in a September 17, 2013 Wall
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Street Journal article, which reported “ speculation that the closures could be retribution for Mr.
Sokolich’s decision not to endorse Mr. Christie in his re-election bid in November.”**” The Wall
Street Journal article also reported, however, that Mayor Sokolich disputed this speculation,
stating: “I’ ve always been incredibly supportive of Gov. Christie even in the face of people
criticizing mefor it. | find it incomprehensible that there’ s any truth whatsoever to these
rumors.” 1%

On October 1, 2013, The Wall Street Journal published an article discussing and also
making available a leaked copy of Foye's September 13, 2013 internal Port Authority email .**°
The article again cited speculation that the lane realignment was “seen . . . asretribution from
surrogates of Republican Gov. Chris Christie.. . . at Fort Lee Mayor Mark Sokolich, a Democrat
who hasn’t endorsed Mr. Christie for re-election,” and again noted that Mayor Sokolich himself
» 170

rglected any such “rumors’ and “said he was a supporter of many of Mr. Christie’s policies.

a. Inquiries Concerning The Bridge L ane Realignment

The Bridge lane realignment and ensuing media attention prompted legislative inquiries.
On September 19, 2013, New Jersey State Senator L oretta Weinberg (D-Bergen) wrote aletter to
the Port Authority criticizing its decision to realign the Fort Lee access lanes for causing
significant traffic congestion and inconveniencing area residents.*”* Two weeks later, on
October 2, 2013, New Jersey Assemblyman John S. Wisniewski (D-Middlesex) announced that
the New Jersey Assembly Transportation, Public Works, and Independent Authorities
Committee (the “ Assembly Transportation Committee”)—which was empowered in March 2012
to investigate “all aspects” of the Port Authority’ s finances'">—would convene a hearing to
investigate who ordered the lane realignment, and whether it was politically motivated.'”® At
two different hearings, the Assembly Transportation Committee received testimony from four

Port Authority employees: William Baroni, on November 25, 2013,* and Cedrick Fulton,’
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Robert Durando,'”® and Patrick Foye on December 9, 2013.%"" On or about December 12, 2013,
the Assembly Transportation Committee issued subpoenas to seven Port Authority employees
for documents relating to the Bridge lane realignment.*”®

On January 8, 2014, news organizations obtained certain documents produced by those
Port Authority employees pursuant to those subpoenas.*”® On January 9, 2014, the Assembly
Transportation Committee made available on its website more than 2,000 pages of documents
that it obtained in response to its subpoenas to Port Authority employees;**° a number of media
organizations subsequently reported on the documents and disclosed them to the public.®** The
Assembly Transportation Committee' s authority under Assembly Resolution 91, which
continued the Committee’ s operation and subpoena power, expired at hoon on January 14,

2014.182

b. Creation Of The New Jersey Select Committees Of I nvestigation

In January 2014, the New Jersey Legislature formed three new Select Committeesto
investigate the lane realignment, empowering each to hold hearings, to interview witnesses, to
take testimony, to exercise all other investigative powers conferred under state law, and to
“report possible violations of any law, rule, regulation, or code to appropriate federal, State, or
local authorities.”*®

First, on January 16, 2014, the General Assembly passed Resolution 10, continuing the
Assembly Transportation Committee’ s mandate, and forming the Assembly Select Committee on
Investigation.’® Comprised of 12 members, this Committee was empowered with a broad
mandate: to “investigate all aspects of the finances, operations, and management of the Port
Authority . . . and any other matter raising concerns about abuse of government power or an

attempt to conceal an abuse of government power including, but not limited to, the reassignment

of access lanes in Fort Lee, New Jersey to the George Washington Bridge.”*® Assemblyman
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Wisniewski was named chairperson of the Assembly Select Committee.’®® As authorized by
Assembly Resolution 10, eight members of the Assembly Select Committee were Democrats and
four were Republicans.™®’

That same day, Chairman Wisniewski issued a statement that the Select Committee had
issued 20 subpoenas.®® The media reported that 11 of these subpoenas were issued to the Office
of the Governor or its current or former employees.*®® The return date for the subpoenas was
February 3, 2014, 12 business days later.*®

Second, also on January 16, 2014, the New Jersey Senate passed Resolution 1, creating
the Senate Select Committee on Investigation.’®* That committee was comprised of seven
members, four Democrats and three Republicans.’® The Senate Select Committee’ s mandate
was as broad as the Assembly Select Committee’s mandate.™®® The appointed chairperson of the
Senate Select Committee was Senator Loretta Weinberg, who also announced the issuance of
subpoenas. ™

Third, on January 27, 2014, the New Jersey Assembly passed Assembly Concurrent
Resolution 10 and the New Jersey Senate passed Concurrent Resolution 49, which together
dissolved the Assembly and Senate Select Committees of Investigation and formed the twelve-
member joint Special Committee of Investigation (the “SCI”).!* Of those twelve members,
eight are from the Assembly and four are from the Senate; eight are Democrats and four are
Republicans.*® The mandate of the SCI is substantially similar to that of the dissolved

Assembly Select Committee. '’

Senator Weinberg and Assemblyman Wisniewski serve as Co-
Chairs of the SCI.*®
That same day, Chairman Wisniewski announced that the SCI had issued the same 20

subpoenas previoudly issued by the Assembly Select Committee, with the same return date of
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February 3, 2014, five business days later.’® These subpoenas were all focused on the lane
realignment.”®

c. TheU.S. Attorney’s Office For The District Of New Jer sey

On January 8, 2014, in response to press inquiries about whether it had opened an
investigation into the Bridge lane realignment, the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for the District of New
Jersey (the “U.S. Attorney’s Office”) provided a statement to reporters: “It isthe policy of our
office to neither confirm nor deny the existence of investigations.”? The following day, in
response to the same or similar questions, a spokesperson for the U.S. Attorney’ s Office
confirmed publicly that the Inspector General for the Port Authority “ has referred the matter to
us, and our office is reviewing the matter to determine whether afederal law was implicated.”?*
The U.S. Attorney’ s Office has since subpoenaed the Governor’ s Office regarding the
203

lane realignment.

2. Mayor Dawn Zimmer's Allegations Regar ding Super storm Sandy Aid
For Hoboken, New Jer sey

In the wake of media coverage regarding the Bridge lane realignment and beginning on
January 18, 2014, Hoboken Mayor Dawn Zimmer made several media appearances in which she
accused the Christie Administration of conspiring at the highest levels to coerce her into
advancing a stalled development project in exchange for Sandy relief aid. Specifically, Mayor
Zimmer alleged that, starting in May 2013, three senior officials—Lieutenant Governor
Kimberly Guadagno, Executive Director of GORR Marc Ferzan, and Commissioner of DCA
Richard Constable—Ilinked Hoboken’ s receipt of Superstorm Sandy aid to the approval of a
commercia development in Hoboken’s North End sponsored by the Rockefeller Group, a private
real estate investment management corporation. Beginning on January 18, 2014, Mayor Zimmer

released copies of her notebook in which she claimed she entered contemporaneous
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memorializations of her assertions. Incomplete copies of this notebook were released to the
public through the media. In addition, Mayor Zimmer appeared in television interviews over the
next three days with MSNBC' s Steve Kornacki,”®* CNN’s Candy Crowley,” and CNN's
Anderson Cooper,® asserting these allegations to the media and public. Mayor Zimmer's

allegations were repeated in numerous news reports,?’

and are discussed in greater detail in
Section V.

On January 19, 2014, one day after shefirst aired her allegations, Mayor Zimmer
released a statement saying: “This afternoon | met with the U.S. Attorney’ s Office for several
hours at their request and provided them with my journal and other documents.”?® A few days
later, Mayor Zimmer released aletter stating, once again, that she had “met with and spoken at
length with the U.S. Attorney’ s office regarding this situation,” and that the U.S. Attorney’s
Office had requested that she not speak publicly about the matter any further.?®® On January 31,
2014, Mayor Zimmer’s Office issued a statement confirming that “[t]he City of Hoboken has

received a subpoena for documents’ from the U.S. Attorney’s Office.?*°

B. Retention Of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
1. Purpose And Scope

On January 16, 2014, the Office of the Governor retained the law firm of Gibson Dunn to
facilitate cooperation with the U.S. Attorney’ s Office’ sinvestigation and other relevant inquiries,
conduct an internal investigation of the George Washington Bridge lane realignment allegations,
and advise the Governor’s Office on best practices and make recommendations for
improvements going forward.?* Two days later, on January 18, 2014, Mayor Zimmer made
public allegations regarding Superstorm Sandy aid,**? which resulted in an expansion of the

scope of Gibson Dunn’s retention to investigate Mayor Zimmer’s allegations as well.
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Gibson Dunn’ s representation of the Governor’ s Office has specifically included: (1) the
review and production of documentsin connection with the U.S. Attorney’ s Office’s and New
Jersey Legidature sinquiries; (2) athorough investigation of the facts relating to both the
George Washington Bridge lane realignment and Mayor Zimmer’ s allegations regarding
Superstorm Sandy relief; and (3) the preparation of areport discussing our findings and
recommendations. Our report was provided to the U.S. Attorney’ s Office on { March 26}, 2014,
consistent with our mandate to facilitate cooperation with that Office' sinvestigation. Indeed, we
have periodically briefed the U.S. Attorney’ s Office on our findings as our review progressed.

The principal objective of Gibson Dunn’sinvestigation has been to determine the facts
regarding both the Bridge lane realignment and Mayor Zimmer’s allegations regarding
Superstorm Sandy aid. In pursuit of that objective, we have interviewed more than 70 witnesses
and reviewed more than 250,000 documents. We received the full and voluntary cooperation of
the Governor and everyone currently in the Governor’s Office. Our access to these withesses
was unfettered: we were able to interview whomever we wanted as often as we wanted,
including the Governor and the Lieutenant Governor. We were also permitted access to personal
emails, and texts, including those of the Governor and Lieutenant Governor, as well as personal
phone records.

We also received cooperation from former members of the Governor’ s Office and many
independent witnesses aswell. Many of those individuals provided documents from both their
work and personal email accounts. We have also reviewed internal Port Authority documents
voluntarily produced to us, which included relevant documents from numerous employees’ files,
including Wildstein and Baroni. And we had the benefit of several Port Authority officials

sworn testimony before the Assembly Transportation Committee. Moreover, we requested and
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received responsive documents from Fort Lee and Hoboken, pursuant to the New Jersey Open
Public Records Act (“OPRA").

To be sure, we did not have access to every potentially relevant witness and document,
but we did have ample evidence—documentary and testimonial, direct and circumstantial—from
which to draw the findings set forth in this report. We analyzed each piece of evidence alongside
al other direct and circumstantial proof of knowledge and intent—including the participants
outward manifestations, words, actions, conduct, and all the surrounding circumstances disclosed
by the evidence. Based upon our experience and common sense, we then drew logical inferences
from the available evidence, asis commonly done to establish the ultimate facts of knowledge
and intent.

Although the four figures central to the lane realignment allegations declined to cooperate
with our investigation, we had access to documents that Wildstein and Baroni produced to the
legislative committees—and that the legislative committees then publicly released—from both
their cell phones and email accounts. Moreover, those documents produced by Wildstein and
Baroni included emails and text message exchanges with Stepien and Kelly as well, thus
providing additional evidence of their respective knowledge of or involvement in the lane
realignment. These and the many other documents we were able to review provide ample basis
to thoroughly investigate these all egations, notwithstanding our inability to determine
conclusively these individuals' subjective motivations. And where we are unable to draw
inferences and conclusions from the evidence presented, we have endeavored to say so here,
noting plausible theories and alternative explanations as appropriate.

Needless to say, we would have preferred to interview Wildstein, Kelly, Stepien, and

Baroni, had we been afforded that opportunity, along with the more than 70 other witnesses we
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were able to interview. Three of those individuals have asserted their Fifth Amendment rights
and, therefore, are refusing to answer anyone’ s questions at present. There may come atime
when they choose to come forward, for whatever reason. Of course, any subsequent claims they
may make will have to be evaluated in light of the extensive evidentiary record from which we
draw our conclusions. It isthat hard evidence—contemporaneous emails and text message
exchanges harvested from both the Governor’ s Office and personal email accounts and devices,
including many from these four central figures—on which we primarily rely, and which assures
the reliability of our investigation.

Similarly, although Mayor Zimmer declined to cooperate with our investigation,”* we
obtained records from her office, and various departments within the City of Hoboken, such as
the Hoboken Planning Board. We also already had the benefit of Mayor Zimmer’ s national
television interviews, as well as copies of her handwritten notebook entries she distributed to the
press, recounting her alegations. Along with the extensive additional evidence that we
independently gathered during our investigation, these materials enabled us to thoroughly
investigate Mayor Zimmer’s allegations. In short, all of our findings are amply supported by the
evidence available to us, and al common-sense inferences to be drawn from them.

2. Work Performed

Since Gibson Dunn’ s retention on January 16, 2014, we have conducted more than 70
interviews, the substantial majority in person. Interviewees included current and former
employees of the Governor’s Office, the Lieutenant Governor’ s Office, and GORR—the
executive-branch entity within the Administration responsible for the distribution of Superstorm
Sandy relief aid—as well as commissioners and employeesin several state agencies. We
interviewed, among many others, Charles McKenna, the Governor’s then-Chief Counsel; Kevin

O’ Dowd, the Governor’s Chief of Staff; Regina Egea, Director of the Authorities Unit; GORR
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Executive Director Marc Ferzan; Lieutenant Governor Kimberly Guadagno; and Governor
Christopher J. Christie.

Our review of hard-copy and electronic materials was similarly comprehensive. We
reviewed hundreds of thousands of emails collected from both the Office and individual
employees—both work and personal webmail accounts. We reviewed electronic documents
collected from employees’ local hard drives, the Office' s central server, user directories, and
shared drives, as well as hard copy documents collected from individual employees of the Office.
We reviewed text and chat messages harvested from both work and personal mobile phones.
Our review of electronic itemsincluded users’ mailboxes, sent mail, draft messages, and deleted
files. Wereviewed employees phone records and electronic calendars, as well as the State
House' s visitor logs.

C. Key Members Of Gibson Dunn’s|nvestigation Team

The Gibson Dunn investigation team has included five former federal prosecutors with
distinguished careersin public service.

Randy M. Mastro isaPartner in Gibson Dunn’s New Y ork Office and Co-Chair of the
Firm's Litigation Practice and Crisis Management Groups. Mr. Mastro is one of the nation’s
leading litigators. Last year, the National Law Journal named him among “ The 100 Most
Influential Lawyersin America.” He hastried dozens of cases and argued more than 100
appeasin federal and state appellate courts throughout the country. His practice includes
complex civil and transnational litigation, government-related and internal investigations, and
white collar matters. From 1994 to 1998, Mr. Mastro served as Chief of Staff to Mayor Rudolph
Giuliani and then as New Y ork City’s Deputy Mayor for Operations. From 1985 to 1989, Mr.
Mastro served as an Assistant U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New Y ork, where he

focused on organized crime racketeering cases. He also served as Deputy Chief of the Civil
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Divisoninthat U.S. Attorney’s Office. Mr. Mastro is an Adjunct Professor at the University of
Pennsylvania Law School, and he formerly taught complex civil litigation at Fordham Law
School. Hereceived his J.D. from the University of PennsylvaniaLaw School and hisB.A. from
Yale University. He served asaLaw Clerk to Justice Alan B. Handler of the New Jersey
Supreme Court.

Debra Wong Yang is a Partner in Gibson Dunn’s Los Angeles Office and Co-Chair of
the Firm’'s White Collar Defense and Investigations, Information Technology and Data Privacy,
and Crisis Management Practice Groups. Her practice focuses on corporate crime and
compliance, with a particular emphasis on internal investigations. Last year, Ethisphere Institute
named her one of the “Top Guns’ among “Attorneys Who Matter.” She hasled teams of
attorneys conducting internal investigations and reviewing compliance programs across a variety
of industries. From 2002 to 2006, Ms. Y ang served as the U.S. Attorney for the Central District
of California, the largest U.S. Attorney’ s Office outside Washington, D.C. She also served as an
Assistant U.S. Attorney for seven years, investigating and prosecuting white-collar and computer
crimes. From 1997 to 2002, Ms. Y ang served as a California State Judge on the Los Angeles
Superior and Municipa Courts. In 2009, Ms. Y ang was selected by Los Angeles Mayor Antonio
Villaraigosa to serve on the Los Angeles Police Commission, part of the civilian oversight
committee of the Los Angeles Police Department. Ms. Yang isan Adjunct Professor at the
University of Southern California School of Law. Shereceived her J.D. from Boston College
Law School and her B.A. from Pitzer College. She served asalLaw Clerk to U.S. District Judge
Ronald SW. Lew of the Central District of California

Alexander H. Southwell is a Partner in Gibson Dunn’s New Y ork Office. His practice

focuses on white collar and regulatory defense, internal investigations, compliance monitoring,
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and complex civil litigation. From 2001 to 2007, Mr. Southwell served as an Assistant U.S.
Attorney for the Southern District of New Y ork, where he focused on public corruption cases,
securities and commodities fraud matters, and computer hacking and intellectual property
crimes. Mr. Southwell isan Adjunct Professor at Fordham University School of Law where he
teaches a seminar on cyber-crimes, the Fourth Amendment, and information security. He
received hisJ.D. from New Y ork University School of Law and his B.A. from Princeton
University. He served asaLaw Clerk for U.S. District Judge Naomi Reice Buchwald of the
Southern District of New Y ork.

Reed Brodsky is a Partner in Gibson Dunn’s New Y ork Office. From 2004 to 2013, Mr.
Brodsky served as an Assistant U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New Y ork where he
successfully served as lead trial counsel for two of that office’s most high-profile white collar
criminal prosecutions: United Satesv. Raj Rajaratnam and United Satesv. Rajat Gupta. Mr.
Brodsky received his J.D. from Vanderbilt University School of Law and his B.A. from Duke
University. He served asalLaw Clerk for U.S. District Judge Hector M. Laffitte of the District
of Puerto Rico.

Avi Weitzman is Of Counsel in Gibson Dunn’s New Y ork Office. From 2005 to 2012,
Mr. Weitzman served as an Assistant U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New Y ork,
where he focused on complex white collar crime cases, securities fraud cases, and international
and domestic organized crime prosecutions. Mr. Weitzman received his J.D. from Harvard Law
School and his B.A. from the University of Kentucky. He served asalLaw Clerk for Justice
DaliaDorner of the Israeli Supreme Court and U.S. District Judge Shira A. Scheindlin of the

Southern District of New Y ork.?
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[11.OVERVIEW OF THE OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR

On January 19, 2010, following popular el ection, Christopher J. Christie was sworn into
office as the Governor of New Jersey. From 2002 through 2008, Governor Christie served as the
U.S. Attorney for the District of New Jersey—the chief federal law enforcement officer in the
State. In that position, Governor Christie earned praise from both Republicans and Democrats
and earned a national reputation as a tough and fair-minded prosecutor battling political
corruption, corporate crime, gang, and terrorism cases.”*> Under his leadership, the U.S.
Attorney’ s Office amassed arecord of 130 convictions of public officials without losing asingle
Case.216

Alongside Governor Christie, Kimberly Guadagno, Governor Christi€’ s running mate,
was sworn in as the State’ sfirst Lieutenant Governor. She also serves concurrently as the
Secretary of State of New Jersey. Prior to her election, Lieutenant Governor Guadagno served as
an Assistant U.S. Attorney for both the Eastern District of New Y ork and the District of New
Jersey, and she served as Deputy Chief of the Public Corruption Unit for the U.S. Attorney’s
Office for the District of New Jersey.?!” Lieutenant Governor Guadagno also previously served
as an Assistant Attorney General in New Jersey, and was elected the Monmouth County Sheriff
in 20077

The Office of the Governor of New Jersey is currently composed of the following key
departments that assist in the Office’ s implementation of state laws, oversight of the state
executive branch, and execution of the Governor’s policy objectives on behalf of the people of
New Jersey.

A. Chief Of Staff

The Chief of Staff oversees the following direct reports: the Governor’s Deputy Chief of

Staff, Deputy Chief of Staff for Policy and Cabinet Liaison, Deputy Chief of Staff for
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Communications and Planning, and Deputy Chief of Staff for Legidative and Intergovernmental
Affairs?® Until recently, Planning was part of the Policy Office; it is now part of the
Communications Office.”

B. Counsd’s Office

The Office of Counsel to the Governor (“Counsel’s Office”) isled by the Chief
Counsel.?* The Chief Counsel oversees the following direct reports: the Deputy Chief Counsel,
Director of the Authorities Unit, and the Appointments Director.??* The Authorities Unit—
which oversees state commissions and authorities and monitors the respective action items for
legal appropriateness and consistency with the Governor’s Office’ s policies—reports to the
Chief Counsel. The Counsel’ s Office also includes a Deputy Chief Counsel and Senior and
Assistant Counsels.??® The Counsel’s Office is authorized by N.J.S.A. § 52:15-8, which broadly
empowers the Chief Counsel to act as legal advisor to the Governor.?*

C. Office Of Legidative And Intergover nmental Affairs

The Office of Legidative and Intergovernmental Affairs (“IGA”) isresponsible for
building and strengthening nonpartisan relationships with local elected officials and communities
on behalf of the Executive Branch, including all state departments.?® The senior employee
within IGA isthe Deputy Chief of Staff for Legidative and Intergovernmental Affairs (“1GA
Deputy Chief of Staff”), who reports to the Governor’s Chief of Staff.”*® Reporting to the IGA
Deputy Chief of Staff are the Director of Intergovernmental Affairs (“Director of IGA”),
Director of Constituencies, and Director of Legidative & Departmental Relations. On the
ground, IGA employs regional directors as liaisons between local officials and the Executive
Branch.

IGA staffers facilitate communi cation between mayors, commissioners, and officials

within the Governor’s Office, thereby ensuring that the Executive Branch remains apprised of
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issues of local concern. After Superstorm Sandy, I GA restructured its regional outreach by
creating ateam of specialized regional directors focused on the sixteen municipalities most
severely affected by the storm. These * Sandy regional directors’ facilitate communication and
liaise between local municipalities and the Governor’s Office of Recovery and Rebuilding. The
Director of IGA previously managed one team of regional directors. Around June 2013, Sandy
regional directors were added to the Director of IGA’s oversight responsibilities. Both teams of
regional stafferstravel to meet with local elected officials and constituencies and then briefing
IGA senior staff.

Governor Christie's former campaign manager Bill Stepien served as IGA Deputy Chief
of Staff for the majority of the Governor’sfirst termin office.”?’ Bridget Kelly joined the
Governor’s Office in 2010 as Director of Legislative Relations.”® Kelly then served as Director
of IGA under Stepien. After Stepien left the Governor’s Officein late April 2013 to manage
229

Governor Christie' s re-election campaign, Kelly was promoted to IGA Deputy Chief of Staff.

D. Governor’sOffice Of Recovery And Rebuilding

Shortly after Superstorm Sandy hit, Governor Christie initiated a comprehensive recovery
effort to rebuild New Jersey’ s communities. To that end, Governor Christie created the
Governor’s Office of Recovery and Rebuilding (* GORR™), which was tasked with coordinating
the recovery activities of New Jersey State departments and agencies and interacting with the
various federal agencies that control federal aid.?® On November 28, 2012, Governor Christie
appointed Marc Ferzan to manage the Office of the Governor’ s Superstorm Sandy recovery
efforts. Ferzan, Executive Director of GORR, assembled ateam with different focus areas, such
as energy infrastructure restoration and resiliency, recovery assistance for disaster-affected

homeowners, and social services program support.



IV.FINDINGSOF FACT: THE GEORGE WASHINGTON BRIDGE LANE
REALIGNMENT

Based on our review and analysis of numerous documents collected from multiple
sources and extensive witness interviews, we provide below our factual findings concerning the
George Washington Bridge lane realignment. Our factual findings are presented in four sections:
first, we present background information on the George Washington Bridge and the Port
Authority of New Y ork and New Jersey; second, we provide background on the Governor’s
campaign for re-election; third, we detail our findings in chronological fashion; and fourth, we
provide an analysis of our findings. We have sought interviews and documents from additional
sources regarding the Bridge lane realignment. To obtain additional information, we requested
documents from Fort Lee pursuant to OPRA, and received certain documentsin response
thereto. We also requested interviews with Bridget Kelly, David Wildstein, Bill Stepien, Bill
Baroni, and Fort Lee Mayor Mark Sokolich, as well as documents related to the lane realignment
from each of these fiveindividuals. Through counsel, all five have declined to cooperate with
our investigation.*!

Our findings are based on al information currently available and the witnesses' best
recollections at the time of their interviews. Those individuals and entities who have not
cooperated with our requests may or may not possess relevant information and materials, which
we have not had the benefit of reviewing. Accordingly, our findings are subject to change if
further information is made available to us.

A. Background On The George Washington Bridge And The Port Authority Of
New York And New Jersey

The George Washington Bridge is operated and maintained by the Port Authority.**? The
Port Authority was established in 1921 by a compact between New Y ork and New Jersey, as

consented to by Congress, in order to promote the economic growth and trade and transportation
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network within the Port of New Y ork District, which includes New Y ork Harbor and parts of
New Y ork and New Jersey.”® In addition to operating the George Washington Bridge, the Port
Authority operates three other bridges (Bayonne, Goethals, and Outerbridge Crossing), two
vehicular tunnels (Holland and Lincoln), the Port Authority Trans-Hudson or PATH rail system,
three bus terminals, the Trans-Hudson Ferry Services, marine terminals and ports, the region’s
airport system (John F. Kennedy International Airport, LaGuardia Airport, Newark Liberty
International Airport, Stewart International Airport, and Teterboro Airport), and the World Trade
Center.?*

The Port Authority was conceived as afinancially independent entity; its funds derive
primarily from private investors and from tolls and fees collected.?®® The Port Authority does
not receive tax revenue from either New Y ork or New Jersey or from any local jurisdiction, and
it has no power to tax.?*®

A twelve-member Board of Commissioners governs the Port Authority; each Governor
appoints six Commissioners.>” Since 1995, the Governor of New Y ork has appointed the
Executive Director and the Governor of New Jersey has appointed the Chairman and the Deputy
Executive Director.”® By statute, the Governors of New Y ork and New Jersey have the right to
veto the actions of the Commissioners from their respective states.>® The power-sharing
arrangement between the two states has long been criticized as inefficient and dysfunctional—
criticisms which are compounded by Governors from both states reportedly appointing political
loyalists to the Port Authority’ s leadership.?*°

The George Washington Bridge, construction of which began in 1927, connects the
borough of Manhattan, New Y ork, and the City of Fort Lee, New Jersey, over the Hudson

River.?* The Bridgeis part of Interstate 95 and U.S. Route 1/9, and it is one of three trans-
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Hudson vehicular crossings connecting New Y ork and New Jersey.?* Upon completion in 1931,
the Bridge was the longest suspension bridge in the world.?*® To this day, the Bridge is one of
the most celebrated, well-recognized, and iconic bridgesin theworld. Initsfirst year of
operation, the Bridge offered six lanes of traffic and carried approximately 5.5 million
vehicles®* As of 2013, the Bridge, which now contains 14 lanes (eight on the upper level and
six on the lower) carried more than 102 million vehicles ayear, making it the busiest bridge in
the world.** During atypical morning rush hour, over 37,000 cars and trucks pass through the
Bridge toll plazatraveling east from New Jersey to New Y ork, and drivers spend an estimated
six daysin traffic on the bridge each year.?*

From Fort Lee, the Bridge can be accessed vialocal approach roads, including Martha
Washington Way (recently renamed Park Avenue) and Bruce Reynolds Boulevard.?*” During
peak morning hours, three of the twelve total upper level toll lanesand booths are typically
reserved for local traffic originating from these Fort L ee approach roads by using traffic conesto
segregate these dedicated traffic lanes.?*® The exact date of origin of this practiceis unclear;
during his testimony before the Assembly Committee, Bridge General Manager Durando

estimated that the dedicated Fort Lee lanes were first implemented 30-35 years ago.?*
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An image of the dedicated Fort Lee local access roads, appears below:

FIGURE 1.2°

These dedicated |ocal access lanes increase congestion in the other nine toll lanes,
through which the substantial majority of the Bridge's eastbound traffic from Interstate 95
flows.®" Additionally, the dedicated local access lanesin Fort Lee are a known short-cut to
avoid eastbound traffic back-ups emanating from the toll plaza.*®* This short-cut, in turn,
increases traffic congestion on local roads and traffic-related concerns for the communities
around the Bridge, including Fort Lee, Leonia, Edgewater, and Englewood Cliffs. Fort Lee
officials themselves have consistently raised concerns regarding public safety and additional
expenses for Fort Lee and local communities—including police, courts, emergency services, and
local road maintenance and clean-up expenses—resulting from the proximity of the Bridge and

the existence of the accesslanes. Fort Lee officials also appear to have a history of considering
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and attempting traffic pattern modifications to mitigate these concerns severa years before the
Port Authority realigned the Fort L ee access lanes.

For example, during the administration of Fort Lee Mayor Jack Alter from 1992 to 2007,
Fort Lee challenged the Bridge' s tax-exempt status and set up roadblocks on local streets.?>?
According to a July 1997 New York Times account, Fort Lee police had “standing orders to set
up roadblocks at Fort Lee' s borders when traffic back-ups on the bridge created absolute
gridlock on local streets’—atactic that Fort Lee officials had used at |east twice before between
1994 and 1997.%* In 2003, the Port Authority and Fort Lee—under the leadership of then-
Mayor Alter, then-Governor James E. McGreevey, and then-Port Authority Chairman Anthony
R. Coscia—agreed to commit $30 million to alleviate congestion around the Bridge for the
benefit of Fort Lee residents and the commuting public through various roadway improvement
projects.>

Similarly, in September 2010, Mayor Sokolich met with Bill Baroni to discuss traffic
congestion in Fort Lee resulting from the Bridge.®® Addressing that “ crippling traffic gridlock”
in afollow-up November 9, 2010 letter, Mayor Sokolich explained that “Fort L ee has always had
to deal with the extraordinary traffic burdens caused by the George Washington Bridge” and that
on approximately “20 occasions over the last forty days, our Borough has been completely
gridlocked.”®’ Mayor Sokolich identified as one of the causes of this “regular” traffic gridlock
the fact that “many vehicles exit the major approach roads and utilize [Fort Le€ g local
thoroughfares as a ‘ short-cut’ in search of available toll booths,” particularly on weekends when
there are fewer available toll booths open.?® “Absent some form of relief” from the Port

Authority, Mayor Sokolich concluded: “[W]e find ourselves with no other alternative other than

to direct the Chief of Police to completely close off our local roads. . . and thereby require all
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vehicles to remain on the major approach thoroughfares (i.e., Route 46, Route 4, Route 80, 1-95,
etc.) and not otherwise meander through our local thoroughfares which causes safety concerns
» 259

(especially for children) and complete traffic shut-down for all of our residents.

B. Background On The Christie Re-Election Campaign, |GA, And Mayor
Sokolich’s March 2013 Decision Not To Endorse Governor Christie

On November 26, 2012, Governor Christie announced his re-election bid for Governor.”®
At the time, Bill Stepien, who had managed the Governor’ s first gubernatorial election
campaign, was serving as the IGA Deputy Chief of Staff, a position he had held for the majority
of the Governor’sfirst term in office®®* In late April 2013, Stepien resigned from his IGA
position to manage the Governor’ s re-election campaign.?®> Upon Stepien’ s departure from the
Governor’s Office, Bridget Kelly—then Director of IGA under Stepien—was elevated to IGA
Deputy Chief of Staff, though she lacked Stepien’ s expertise and background.?®®

Part of the re-election campaign’ s strategy was to leverage and showcase Governor
Christie’ s “crossover appeal”—that is, his widely recognized reputation for working with
Democrats and Republicans alike. Specifically, Governor Christi€’ s re-election campaign aimed
to obtain broad support from Democrats and Independents, with a special focus on endorsements
from New Jersey Democratic Mayors.

There were |GA regional directors who volunteered during their personal time to help
Governor Christie' sre-election campaign. These regional directorstypically worked as
campaign volunteers during off-hours: in the morning before work, in the evening after work,

and during weekends. The general practice was to use personal rather than government email

accounts for campaign work.?%*

* x *k % %
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While the Governor was running for re-election in 2013, Mayor Sokolich had two
principal points of contact within the Governor’s Office: Matt Mowers and Evan Ridley.
Initially, Mowers was the IGA Regional Director responsible for Bergen County, which includes
Fort Lee. When Mowers left the Governor’ s Office to work for the re-election campaign full-
time on April 19, 2013, Ridley took over hisresponsibilities for Bergen County. Both Mowers
and Ridley thus had periodic communication with Mayor Sokolich during the period when a
potential endorsement would have been discussed (January through November 2013).

In January 2013, Mayor Sokolich’s name appeared on alist of 21 Democratic Mayors
from whom the re-election campaign intended to seek endorsements.?®> According to Mayor
Sokolich, neither Mowers nor Ridley ever “asked directly” for Sokolich to endorse Governor
Christie®® In fact, the first time that Mowers and Mayor Sokolich discussed a potential
endorsement, in February 2013, it was Sokolich, not Mowers, who raised the possibility.?*’
Subsequently, in March 2013, Mowers and Mayor Sokolich casually discussed other Democrats
who had recently endorsed Governor Christie; in that context, according to Mayor Sokolich,
Mowers would reportedly ask, “[w]hat’s on your mind?’ or “[i]s that something, you, mayor,
would consider??®®

Consistent with Mayor Sokolich’s recollection, according to Mowers, he and Sokolich
generally discussed a potential endorsement of Governor Christie on two occasions. First, on
February 5, 2013, Mowers met with Mayor Sokolich; during that lunch meeting, Sokolich first
brought up the possibility that he might endorse Governor Christie. Indeed, ina
contemporaneous email summary of the meeting sent to Sheridan, Mowers wrote that “the topic

of endorsement” was “one he [Sokolich] raised.” 2%
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Second, on March 26, 2013, Mowers had dinner with Mayor Sokolich in Fort Lee, at
which time Mowers and Sokolich again discussed a potential endorsement. Mowers recalled that
Mayor Sokolich said he was supportive of Governor Christie, but could not publicly endorse the
Governor because it might jeopardize his private law practice and ongoing business relationships
with local Democratic municipalities. Specifically, Mayor Sokolich suggested that those
municipalities—governed by Democrats who would object to his endorsing a Republican—
might retaliate against him by withdrawing their business, were he to endorse Governor Christie.
That night, Mowers confirmed Mayor Sokolich’s decision not to endorse in writing, texting
Sheridan that Mayor Sokolich “isgoing to beano. 1t's ashame too-1 really like the guy[.]” %™

When Mayor Sokolich decided not to endorse, his name was removed from the Christie
re-election campaign’sinternal target list. Mayor Sokolich’s name did not appear on several
internal endorsement status memoranda prepared by Sheridan and Rennain April and June,
2013. And Ridley’s contemporaneous summaries of his meetings with Mayor Sokolich confirm
that Mayor Sokolich’s position on endorsement did not change throughout that summer.

Mayor Sokolich’s decision not to publicly endorse Governor Christie, conveyed to
Mowers on March 26, 2013, does not appear to have affected Mayor Sokolich’s standing with
respect to the Administration. To the contrary, Mayor Sokolich was included on an appointment
list of Mayors considered for potential appointments. And more broadly, numerous other
Democratic municipal officials whose endorsement the campaign targeted ultimately declined to

271

endorse Governor Christie publicly,”’~ yet were typically treated no differently.

C. In-Depth Fact Chronology

The central focus of our investigation was to determine who at the Office of the Governor
may have had knowledge of, or involvement in, the Bridge lane realignment. We describe below

the available materials concerning the Port Authority’s preparation for the lane realignment, the
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implementation of the lane realignment, and the events that followed the reversal of the lane
realignment.

1. July—September 2013: Events Preceding The Lane Realignment

a. Summer 2013: Port Authority Preparation For TheLane
Realignment

According to former Port Authority Deputy Executive Director Bill Baroni’s November
25, 2013 testimony before the Assembly Committee, in late July 2013, the Port Authority Police
Department approached David Wildstein, then-Director of Interstate Capital Projects at the Port

Authority, about the Bridge' s traffic lanes and conditions.?”?

Wildstein appears to have had a
prior interest in studying the optimal alignment of these toll lanes. Fulton and Durando testified
that Wildstein had inquired about the cone line for the Fort L ee entrance when he and Baroni had
visited the Bridge in late 2010 or 2011.>"® After being “told that it was long-time practice based
on [an] old agreement with the Mayor of Ft. Lee,” Wildstein reportedly commented to Durando
that “*he wasn't crazy about the favoritism’ for certain commuters, ‘including lots of New Y ork
plates asaresult of the cone line.”?"* Wildstein had also communicated this perception of
unfairness about Fort Lee’s dedicated toll lanesto at least one IGA staffer, who recounted a
meeting with Wildstein at the Port Authority in May or June 2011, during which Wildstein
referred to Fort Lee' s three dedicated access lanes as the unnecessary result of a“political deal.”
According to Baroni’ stestimony, in early August 2013, Wildstein met with Port
Authority staff in Engineering, Traffic Engineering, and the Department of Tunnels, Bridges, and
Terminals (“TBT”) to review traffic conditions on the Bridge.””®> Following these meetings,
Wildstein reportedly asked the Office of the Chief Engineer “to formulate options to determine

whether the Fort Lee lanes were causing a clear and marked increase in Bridge traffic for the

95 percent of driverswho live in other areas of the Bergen and Passaic counties, and across the
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state.”?"® Durando testified that he had a conversation with Wildstein on August 21, 2013,
during which Wildstein asked whether there was any documentation in place, such asa
memorandum of understanding, with the Borough of Fort Lee creating the dedicated access
lanes.?”” Durando later stated that, at that meeting, Wildstein told him that “he’d liketo run a
test of reducing the number of lanes to the GWB at the Ft. Lee entrance.”?"® After Durando
warned Wildstein of “severe traffic consequences,” Wildstein responded, in sum or substance,
“that’s why you run atest.”*"”

On August 28 and 29, 2013, in response to Wildstein's request, Port Authority traffic
engineers Jose Rivera and Peter Zipf emailed Wildstein four potential scenarios for modification

280

of the Bridge' s upper level toll plazas. ™™ Scenario 4 involved restricting Fort Lee traffic “to two

lanes then merged into one lane to feed the right-most lane of the toll plaza.” %"

b. August 2013: Wildstein And Kelly Communicate About TheLane
Realignment

On August 12, 2013, Kelly and Wildstein exchanged emails regarding New Jersey ferry
service for family members of victims of the September 11 terrorist attacks.?®* At 5:25 p.m. on
August 12, 2013, Kelly told Wildstein to call her in “15 minutes,” at approximately 5:40 p.m.*®

On the evening of August 12, 2013, between 7:00 and 7:30 p.m., Kelly called Mowers,
who was with Peter Sheridan at adiner in Jersey City, about the status of Mayor Sokolich’s
potential endorsement. Kelly asked whether Mayor Sokolich was going to endorse Governor
Christie, and Mowers responded that he was not. Kelly responded, in sum or substance, that that
was all she needed to know.

On August 13, 2013, at 7:34 am., Kelly, from her personal email account, wrote to

Wildstein, on his personal email account: “Time for some traffic problemsin Fort Lee.”?* One



minute |l ater, Wildstein responded: “Got it.”?*® Animage of this email, produced by Wildstein

to the Assembly Transportation Committee, appears below:

e ]
i

Re:

David Wildstein <davd.wildstein@gmail.com> Tue, Aug 13, 2013 at 7:35 AM
To: Bridget Anne Kelly <bridgetannekelly@yahoo.com>

Got it
On Aug 13, 2013, at 7:34 AM, Bridget Anne Kelly <bridgetannekelly@yahoo.com> wrote:

> Time for some traffic problems in Fort Lee.

FIGURE 2.2

With causing “traffic problems’ apparently still on their minds, on August 19, 2013,
Wildstein texted Kelly a photograph of Rabbi Mendy Carlebach, a Port Authority chaplain and
Orthodox rabbi, with U.S. House Speaker John Boehner.®” Kelly responded: “I think this
qualifies as some sort of stalking[.] You aretoo much[.]”?® Wildstein responded: “Heis
Jewish Cid Wilson[,]” % referring to “aleader in the state's Afro-L atino community and a
Democrat who twice considered running for the state Assembly.”?® Kelly responded: “You are
really so funny[.] Heis. No doubt[.]"?* After Wildstein told Kelly that “he”—referring to
Rabbi Carlebach—*has officially pissed me off[,]"?** Kelly wrote, “We cannot cause traffic
problemsin front of his house, can we?'?* Wildstein responded: “Flightsto Tel Aviv all
mysteriously delayed.”®** Kelly responded: “Perfect[].”?*

Around this same time, Kelly became aware that Ridley had apparently met with Mayor
Sokolich, on August 16, 2013. Kelly wrote to Rennathat same day, asking, “why did he

[Ridley] think it was ok to meet with Sokolich?'®*® Kelly—who described herself as“irate” and
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“on fire”—wrote that Ridley “should not have met with Fort Lee without approval . . . I'mreally
upset with him.”?*" Days later, on or about August 21, 2013, Kelly confronted Ridley and told
him that they would need to talk. Ridley followed up with an email later that afternoon to ask
Kelly when they should meet and Kelly responded “[tjomorrow.”?*® But for reasons unknown,
that meeting never occurred. And neither Renna nor Ridley fully knew why Kelly was so angry
about Ridley’ s reported meeting with Mayor Sokolich.

On August 22, 2013, Rennareceived an invitation for Lieutenant Governor Guadagno to
address the Fort Lee Regional Chamber of Commerce later that October.?*® Renna then
forwarded the invitation to Kelly.3® Kelly then asked: “Should we do thisin light of the
Mayor?'*** Rennaresponded: “I guessnot. It'sagood Chamber, though.”3% Kelly asked: “I
assume the Mayor would go, no?"**® Rennaresponded: “Not necessarily if we don’t tell him.
He works [at a private law practice], right?”*** Kelly agreed with Renna’ s suggestion—
“Correct. Good call”—and ultimately confirmed the Lieutenant Governor’s participation in the
event.*®

On August 28, 2013, Wildstein, using his personal email account, emailed Kelly’s
personal email account: “Call when you have a chance re: Ft. Lee — can wait for tomorrow[.]” 3%
At the time, Kelly was on vacation with her family. Wildstein informed her that it was important

that they talk by Tuesday, September 3, 2013.3%’

C. September 6-8, 2013: Weekend Before The Lane Realignment

On Friday, September 6, 2013, Wildstein directed the Bridge lane realignment to occur
the following Monday morning.® Specifically, Wildstein instructed Durando to reduce the
number of toll lanes and booths dedicated to the Fort Lee local access lanes from three to one,
effective at 6:00 am. on Monday morning, September 9, 2013, thereby increasing the number of

toll lanes and booths accessible to mainline eastbound commuters.*® Durando relayed
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Wildstein' s directive to his “chain of command”: to Cedrick Fulton, TBT Director; Durando’s
operations and maintenance staff; and the Port Authority Police Department Police Captain.*™
Indeed, Darcy Licorish, Deputy Inspector for the Port Authority Police Department, wrote to
then-PAPD Inspector Norma Hardy later that day, September 6, 2013:
On this date the undersigned was informed by the general manager Robert
Durando that he was instructed by Wildstein to change the traffic pattern entering
upper toll plaza specifically involving toll lanes 20, 22 and 24. Currently these
toll lanes are set up to accommodate traffic from Fort Lee streets at Martha
Washington way and Bruce Reynolds Blvd. The new pattern will only allow one
toll lane #24 to accept that traffic from the local streets. Just to give you an idea
which toll lane [is] being referenced, it is the extreme right toll lane of the upper
plaza. This measure could impact the volume of traffic from the local streets. |

was informed that Mr. Wildstein is scheduled to visit the facility on the initiating
date 9/9/13.3"

Durando later testified that he did not inform anyone outside the Port Authority, including the
Office of the Governor, and that Wildstein directed him *not to speak to anyone in Fort Lee”
during the course of the operation because it would purportedly “impact the study.”3*?
According to Fulton, Fulton asked Wildstein “whether or not he had communicated hisintent to
the Executive Director [Foye].”®** Wildstein’s response, according to Fulton, was: “‘Don’t
worry about that. We will take care of it.” ">

Following Wildstein’ s directive, Port Authority analysts began preparations to assess the
traffic impact of the lane realignment. On September 6, 2013, Mark Muriello, Assistant TBT
Director, forwarded the August 28 to 29, 2013 lane modification scenarios designed by Port
Authority traffic engineers to his team—Jacobs, Chung, and Quelch—and informed them that
they would be implementing Scenario 4: atwo-lane reduction of the Fort Lee access lanes from
three to one.®® He enlisted their assistance in assessing the impact of the lane realignment,

stating: “Cedrick [Fulton] will be looking for usto do a quick assessment on Fort Lee impactsto

be used for a discussion with the Fort Lee Mayor next week. | think what we need is an analysis
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of traffic by toll by hour for this past week, and some estimates of what we think might be likely
next week with the new toll plaza configuration that is planned.”**° It is unknown what
“discussion with the Fort Lee Mayor” Muriello anticipated. Muriello further explained:
“Presumablyl[,] the impact [of the lane realignment] may be having more people stay on the main
180/95 approach rather than getting off and find[ing] their way into Fort Lee. However, there are
likely to be increased delays and queuing on the local approach roads.”*'” The team discussed
examining recent traffic counts, “ Skycomp” base conditions, and turning movements on
approach roads.**® Muriello noted that the change would significantly affect the peak hour
traffic and the local approach from Fort Lee.**®

There was some concern within the Port Authority about the anticipated effects of the
traffic study. Quelch, in a September 6, 2013 email, asked “what isdriving” the reduction to one
access lane, noting: “A single toll lane operation invites potential disaster. Even with athree
lane operation, motorists experience 5-10 min each morning. It seems like we are punishing all
for the sake of afew. Very confused.”® And two days later, on September 8, 2013, Lieutenant
Thomas “Chip” Michaels, a police lieutenant assigned to the George Washington Bridge, asked
Licorish whether the new traffic pattern would “affect our normal rush hour operation?” 3%
Licorish responded: “Most likely. Concerns were made to no aval [sic] locally.”?

On Saturday, September 7, 2013 at 9:43 a.m., Wildstein emailed Kelly through their
personal accounts: “I will call you Monday A.M. to let you know how Fort Lee goes.”**® Kelly
responded: “Great. | called you yesterday to talk PATH.”*** Wildstein responded that he would
call Kelly in five minutes.>®

On Sunday, September 8, 2013, the day before the planned lane realignment, Wildstein

emailed Durando to let him know that Wildstein would be at the bridge early on September 9,
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2013, to observe the lane realignment.®* Durando confirmed that he too would be at the Bridge
and that “[p]olice are aware that they will be controlling traffic in the intersections for the
extended rush.”**" Durando further informed Wildstein that “[w]€ ve also brought atoll
collector in on overtime to keep toll lane 24 (the extreme right hand toll lane Upper level) in the
event the collector assigned to TL needs a personal. Seeyou in the morning.”3*® Wildstein
forwarded this response to Baroni.**® In a separate chain, Durando forwarded to Fulton his prior
» 330

response to Wildstein, commenting: “Took ashot. Hedidn't bite.

2. September 9-13, 2013: Implementation Of The Lane Realignment
a. Day One: Monday, September 9, 2013
On Monday, September 9, 2013, the Port Authority reduced from three to one the number
of lanes and booths at the Bridge toll plaza available to those accessing the Bridge from Fort Lee

access roads.*!

Specificaly, the three Fort L ee access lanes were realigned to feed into the one
southernmost toll booth—a Cash and E-Z Pass |lane—rather than the three southernmost toll
booths that had been previously dedicated to traffic from the Fort L ee access lanes, which
included one E-Z Pass only lane. The cones effectuating the lane realignment were put into
place overnight and were effective at approximately 6:00 am., the typical start of morning rush
hour traffic on the Bridge.>*

Wildstein planned to arrive at the Bridge at approximately 6:00 am.** and confirmed to
Durando at approximately 7:28 a.m. that he was “[g]oing to take aride” and “ see how it
looks.”*** Wildstein “ stood at the communications desk for alittle while—it’s an area with
cameras to look out at the various roadways—Ilimited view, albeit.”>** Wildstein then “left the
communications desk with [Michaels],** to ride around the facility for some period of time to

see the impact on traffic.”* Specificaly, at 7:09 am., Michaels texted Wildstein: “Want meto

pik u [sic] up? Its fkd [sic] up here.”**® Wildstein responded: “Around 7:30.”%° At 8:46 am.,
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Michaels texted Wildstein: “I may hav ideato mak ths beter [sic].”>* At 9:33 am., Michaels
then texted Fort Lee Police Chief Bendul, proposing a modification to local traffic patternsin
order to mitigate congestion. Bendul responded: “Can’t center ave[nue] gridiocked. Suggestion
open up 3 toll lanes.”3*

Slightly before 9:10 am., Police Chief Bendul called the Port Authority to express his
serious concerns about the lane realignment.®*? Durando emailed Wildstein, noting complaints
from Bendul:

Just got off the phone with the FLPD Chief who's not happy about our new traffic

pattern. He's particularly upset that no one from the GWB, either civilian or

PAPD had the courtesy or the “neighborly” intent to call either the Mayor’s

Office or FLPD about testing a new traffic pattern. The Chief asked how he goes

about ending this “miserable failure.” | advised him to have the[] Mayor call Bill

Baroni. | also, at their request, met with them at the facility and advised them of

same in person. They advised that the mayor would be calling Bill this

morning.>*
Bendul also apparently met with Fulton around 10:30 am. or 11:00 am., “angrily demand[ing]
to know why Port Authority has changed traffic pattern and caused gridlock in Ft. Lee.”3*

Around 9:29 am., Mayor Sokolich called Baroni to discuss the lane realignment. Baroni
apparently did not speak with Sokolich when he called, and Baroni received an email message
whose subject line stated: “Phone call: Mayor Sokolich [] re: urgent matter of public safety in
Fort Lee.”** Baroni forwarded the message from hisiPhone to Wildstein at his personal email
address.>*® Wildstein responded: “radio silence.”**’ Baroni apparently did not return Mayor
Sokolich’s phone call.

From his personal email account, Wildstein re-forwarded Baroni’ s forwarded email to
Kelly at her personal email address.>*® Kelly asked: “Did [Baroni] call him back?"3* Wildstein

responded: “Radio silence. His name comes right after mayor Fulop”—an apparent reference to

Jersey City Mayor Steven Fulop, whose meetings with Christie Administration officials were
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cancelled by Kelly months before. Kelly responded: “Ty.”**® We did not identify any other
communications between Kelly and Wildstein in this chain or any evidence that these emails
were received by others.

At 11:24 am., Tina Lado, the Port Authority’s New Jersey Director of Government and
Community Relations,*" emailed Baroni, Wildstein, and Fulton to inform them of a phone call
from Peggy Thomas, Fort Lee Borough Administrator.>*> Thomas called the Port Authority
“regarding the increased volume and congestion of AM rush traffic throughout the Borough as a
result of the GWB toll lanes adjustment that occurred.”*** Lado stated that Thomasinformed the
Port Authority that “there were 2 incidents that Ft Lee PD and EM S had difficulty responding to:
amissing child (later found) and a cardiac arrest. She stated additionally that the Borough and
PD had no advance notice of the planned change.”*** Lado also informed Baroni that Mayor
Sokolich had placed callsto his office.®®

By approximately 11:45 am., traffic had cleared in Fort Lee.*® On thefirst day of the
Bridge lane realignment, traffic lasted a total of three hours longer than traffic prior to the lane
realignment.®’ Frustrated and angry commuters called the Port Authority with complaints
throughout the day. Some of these complaints were forwarded to Fulton, Muriello, and others at
the Port Authority.®® Traffic congestion was exacerbated by an accident on the Cross Bronx
Expressway—an accident which, according to the Port Authority, undermined the utility of the
traffic data collected that day.>*

At 1:13 p.m., Durando emailed Fulton about the “plan for tomorrow.”**® He noted:

DW [Wildstein] is supposed to call [m]e later today to discuss. Mark and his staff

are working on comparative look at traffic numbers. | was advised that . . . the

FLPD Chief would be calling Bill Baroni to discuss today’s operation.

Specifically, traffic conditions required Ft Lee officers to remain out on corners,
managing traffic instead of attending to public safety issues. He also expressed
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grave concern about the inability of emergency response vehicles, ambulance,
FLFD to traverse the borough while responding to emergencies.®*

At 1:50 p.m., Kelly emailed the IGA staffer who covered Northern New Jersey, Ridley,
copying Renna: “Have you spoken to the Fort Lee Mayor?'*** Ridley responded: “No, notina
while.”33 At 1:56 p.m., Kelly sent asimilar inquiry to Mowers, the former IGA staffer who had
Ridley’ sterritory before moving to the campaign: “Have you heard from Sokolich in awhile,” to
which Mowers responded, “I haven't.” 3

At around 2:00 p.m., Fulton called Wildstein to reiterate his reservations about the lane
realignment, saying, in sum or substance, “this can’t end well.”** In response to Fulton’s
concerns about Fort Lee’ s response to the lane realignment, Wildstein directed Fulton to “go
silent on Ft. Lee” and that “Bill Baroni will talk to Pat Foye,” according to Fulton.*®

At 2:05 p.m., Durando informed Fulton and Muriello that Wildstein had told him “that
Mayor Sokolich called Baroni. BB [Baroni] will get back to the Mayor ‘at some point.” I've
been directed by DW [Wildstein] to continue the operation so that we can make a business
decision with regard to how to proceed. Mark’s folks are looking at numbers.”**” Durando later
informed Riverathat, per Wildstein's directive, the operation would continue “through tomorrow
at aminimum.”%®

At 5:24 p.m., Durando asked Fulton if Wildstein had advised Fort Lee that the lane
realignment would continue on September 10, 2013.%*° Fulton responded that Durando should
make “the necessary notifications. . . just to [Durando’] staff.” "

At 8:46 p.m., Wildstein texted Baroni: “911[.] Call me.”3"*

b. Day Two: Tuesday, September 10, 2013

On Tuesday, September 10, 2013, the lane realignment continued, beginning again at

approximately 6:00 am.3"? According to Durando, traffic was “[4] little better than [ September
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9] but still not good. 1-95 approaches were free and clear by 0830 and the Ft |ee approaches

were packed.” 3"

At 8:04 am., Wildstein forwarded to Kelly atext message apparently sent by Mayor

Sokolich to Baroni, which stated: “Presently we have four very busy traffic lanes merging into

only onetoll booth. . .. The bigger problem is getting kids to school. Help please. It's

maddening.”*"* Kelly and Wildstein then exchanged the following text messages:

Bridget Kelly:
David Wildstein:

Bridget Kelly:

David Wildstein:

Isit wrong that | am smiling?
No

| feel badly about the kids
| guess

They are the children of Buono voters
Bottom lineis he didn’t say safety®”

[Intervening Text Redacted by Wildstein]

David Wildstein:

Bridget Kelly:
David Wildstein:

Bridget Kelly:

So 1-95 traffic broke about 5 minutes ago, about 45 minutes earlier
than usual, because there are 2 additional lanes to handle morning
rush.

That is good, no?
Very good

Small favors®®

At 8:39 am., Michaels texted Wildstein: “Local ft lee traf[f]ic disaster.”3"’

At 11:25 am., Durando emailed Fulton and informed him that Wildstein would “like to

continue the test of tl [toll lang] 24 through tomorrow.

1378

That morning, Mayor Sokolich again attempted to contact Baroni.>”® At 11:30 am., Lado

relayed a message from Mayor Sokolich to Baroni viaemail. She wrote:

The Mayor would like to talk to you as soon as possible, regarding the traffic
congestion due to the change in GWB toll booths configuration. He remains
concerned, doesn’'t understand the purpose/need of the traffic test and doesn’'t
understand why the borough was not alerted. Additionaly, he said that he is
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trying to ‘keep alid on this' (politically) and is getting pressure from members of
the Borough Council who want to take some action. He feelsthisisa‘life/safety’
issue. One example that occurred on Monday 9/9 was Fort Lee volunteer
ambulance attendants had to respond on foot, leaving their vehicle, to an
emergency call >

c. Day Three: Wednesday, September 11, 2013

The lane realignment remained in place on Wednesday, September 11, 2013 for athird
consecutive day. According to Durando, the traffic congestion in Fort Lee was the “[s|lame as
the last two days. The mainline on I-95 is running very well. The borough continues to be
congested, but it is[8:00 am.].”**" According to analysis by the Port Authority’s Traffic
Engineering group, on this date, traffic originating on the 1-95 Express Lanes experienced an
average reduction of 4.12 minutesin travel time and traffic originating on the I-95 Local Lanes
experienced an average reduction of 2.72 minutes.>*?

On September 11, 2013, Governor Christie—along with his wife and approximately
4,000 others, including New Y ork Governor Andrew Cuomo, then-New Y ork City Mayor
Michael Bloomberg, then-Mayoral candidate and now New Y ork City Mayor Bill de Blasio,
former Mayor Rudolph Giuliani, and FBI Director James Comey—attended a 9/11 Memorial
event at the World Trade Center in Lower Manhattan to honor the fallen heroes of 9/11 and
commemorate the 12th anniversary of the terrorist attacks.®® As reflected in a series of
photographs, Governor Christie met with dozens of politicians, dignitaries, and victims' families
that day. Governor Christie, Baroni, Wildstein, and others from the Port Authority, according to
Governor Christie, exchanged pleasantries at the 9/11 Memorial event.®* Dozens of people
approached the Governor to shake his hand and take photographs with him.3*

Following the 9/11 Memorial event, Governor Christie took a helicopter from the West

30th Street Heliport in Manhattan and headed south directly to Trenton, New Jersey. 3



d. Day Four: Thursday, September 12, 2013

The lane realignment remained in place on the morning of Thursday, September 12,
2013, but there had not yet been any pressinquiries about it. That same day, at approximately
2:30 p.m., afire broke out on the boardwalk in Seaside Park, New Jersey, ultimately engulfing
the boardwalk rebuilt there after Superstorm Sandy and destroying more than 50 businesses.®®’
In response to that disaster, Governor Christie immediately traveled to Seaside Park, arriving
around 5:30 p.m.; by 7:00 p.m., he had declared a state of emergency and addressed the Seaside
Park community.®* Governor Christie brought a number of cabinet officials and senior staff
with him to Seaside Park, including Kelly, who was there to liaise with local elected officials.*®
Throughout this period, Governor Christie did not have any discussions with Kelly regarding
Mayor Sokolich or the Bridge lane realignment.

Asthe lane realignment continued to cause significant traffic congestion in Fort Lee,
Mayor Sokolich again contacted Baroni—this time, by emailed letter.>*° At 12:44 p.m., Mayor
Sokolich sent aletter to Baroni “in the hopes that a recent decision by the Port Authority will be
reversed quietly, uneventfully and without political fanfare.”*** Mayor Sokolich stated that the
Port Authority’s decision to reduce available toll booths for traffic flowing through Fort Lee
from three to one had “wreaked havoc upon [the Fort Lee] community during the morning rush
hour” and “negatively impacted public safety herein Fort Lee.”** Mayor Sokolich noted that
“members of the public” had stated “that the Port Authority Police Officers are advising
commuters in response to their complaints that this recent traffic debacleis the result of a
decision that |, as the Mayor, recently made.”** Mayor Sokolich emphasized that he had
“incessantly attempted to contact Port Authority representatives to no avail” and requested that
someone from the Port Authority call him or Fort Lee Police Chief Bendul to resolve the

issue. 3

65



Three minutes later, at 12:47 p.m., Baroni forwarded Mayor Sokolich’sletter from his
work email address to Wildstein at his personal email address.*® At 12:52 p.m., Wildstein
forwarded the letter to both Stepien and Kelly at their personal email addresses3*® At 12:53
p.m., Baroni forwarded the letter from his personal email address to Stepien at his personal email
address with anote: “Following up.”®*’ Nineteen minutes | ater, Stepien responded to Baroni:
“Thanks.”**® We have not identified any written response from Kelly to Baroni. Later that
evening, at 6:03 p.m., Baroni texted Wildstein a message he received from “ Serbia,” referring to
Mayor Sokolich.** In the message to Baroni, Mayor Sokolich stated: “My frustration is now
trying to figure out who is mad at me.”*®

On the afternoon of September 12, 2013, Mayor Sokolich attempted to reach his primary
contact in the Governor's Office, Evan Ridley.*™ At thetime, Ridley was at a meeting outside
the office and returned Mayor Sokolich’s call from Ridley’s car following his meeting. During
their call, Mayor Sokolich complained about the lane realignment and stated that members of the
Hoboken City Council had suggested that it could have been retaliatory. Following their
conversation, Ridley returned to the State House, where he reported the substance of the call to
his superior, Renna. During their conversation, Ridley asked Renna about Mayor Sokolich’s
speculation that the Office of the Governor might have had involvement in the lane realignment;
Renna responded that she did not know one way or the other. Then, at 3:36 p.m., after
unsuccessfully trying to speak to Kelly in person, Renna emailed Kelly, through their personal
email accounts, summarizing Ridley’ s report of his phone call with Mayor Sokolich. Renna
explained:

The Mayor is extremely upset about the reduction of toll lanes from 3 to 1. Not

only is [it] causing a horrendous traffic back up in town, First Responders are

having a terrible time maneuvering the traffic because the back up is so severe.
The Mayor told Evan that he has no idea why Port Authority decided to do this,
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but there is afeeling in town that it is government retribution for something. He
simply can't understand why that would be the case, however, because he has
always been so supportive of the Governor. [...] Evan told the fine Mayor he
Wasml)JznaNare that the toll lanes were closed, but he would see what he could find
out.

Ten minutes later, Kelly forwarded Renna s email to Wildstein, through their personal email
accounts.*® Earlier in the day, Wildstein had asked Kelly to call him; she said she would call
him later because she was en route to Seaside.*™* Eight hours after Renna sinitial email, at
11:44 p.m., Kelly responded to Renna: “Good.” %

At 5:14 p.m., consistent with Muriello’s September 6, 2013 request for “a quick
assessment on Fort Lee [traffic] impacts to be used for a discussion with the Fort Lee Mayor,”*%®
Jacobs emailed Muriello a PowerPoint document entitled “ Reallocation of Toll Lanes at the
GWB: AnEARLY assessment of the benefits of the trial.”*”” The document outlined the Port
Authority’s preliminary analyses of the lane realignment and explained that the “trial result[ed]
in atrade-off between travel time savings for mainline traffic and substantial delaysfor ‘local’

traffic.” 4%

e. Night Four And Into Day Five: Friday, September 13, 2013 —
Foye Rever ses L ane Realignment

The Port Authority received itsfirst known pressinquiry regarding the lane realignment
at approximately 1:17 p.m. on September 12, 2013. John Cichowski, ajournalist for The Bergen
Record, Herald News, and NorthJersey.com, and author of the “Road Warrior” column in The
Bergen Record, emailed Chris Valens of the Port Authority Media Relations Department,
requesting responses to complaints and questions about the lane realignment.*®® Cichowski’s
email included a message from one of his readers, and was accompanied by a letter, postdated
September 13, 2013, from U.S. Congressman Bill Pascrell, Jr., to Baroni, requesting information

and assistance regarding the lane realignment.**° Cichowski’s email was then forwarded to
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various Port Authority personnel, including Durando, Ramirez, Fulton, Lado, Baroni, and
Wildstein.** Wildstein separately forwarded Cichowski’s email from his personal email address
to Kelly at her personal email address and to Drewniak, whose press responsibilities typically

412 \We have not

included matters involving the Port Authority, at hiswork email address.
identified any written response from Kelly or Drewniak to Wildstein.

At 3:18 p.m., Wildstein sent Kelly and Drewniak, at her personal email address and at his
work email address, the following draft press response: “The Port Authority isreviewing traffic
safety patterns at the George Washington Bridge to ensure proper placement of toll lanes. The
PAPD has been in contact with Fort Lee police throughout this transition.”

At 6:27 p.m., Port Authority Assistant Director of Media Relations Ron Marsico
circulated a*“Port Authority Nightly Media Activity Report” listing various press inquiries—
commonly known as “media pendings’—for September 12, 2013.** This report was sent to
various Port Authority personnel on the New Y ork and New Jersey “sides,” including Baroni,
Wildstein, Lado, and Vice Chairman Scott Rechler, aswell as Drewniak.*®> Marsico’s email
listed seven press inquiries that Port Authority had received on September 12, 2013, and the Port
Authority’s response to each inquiry.*® It noted specifically: “John Cichowski of the Bergen
Record inquired about a change in the amount of toll lanes available to Ft. Lee residents at the
GWB. Wetold the reporter that the Port Authority is reviewing traffic safety patterns at the
GWB and that PAPD has been in contact with Fort Lee PD throughout the transition”—a
statement essentially identical to the draft press response sent by Wildstein to Kelly and
Drewniak three hours earlier.*’

Marsico’s circulation of the media pendings prompted an immediate response from Port

Authority officials. At 8:39 p.m., Rechler forwarded Marsico’s email to Foye and David Garten,
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stating: “We need to get to the bottom of this.”**® Foye responded three minutes later: “Agree.
Very troubling.”** The following morning, September 13, 2013, at 6:01 am., Foye asked
Durando to call him.*® Three minutes |ater, at 6:04 am., Durando forwarded Foye's message to
Wildstein, who requested a post-call update.”*

Durando and Foye spoke at some time between 6:04 am. and 6:47 am.*? According to
Durando’s December 9, 2013 testimony to the Assembly Transportation Committee, Foye asked
Durando if he “was told not to tell” Foye about the lane realignment, and Durando told Foye that
he had been.*”® Durando then reported the substance of his call with Foye to Wildstein, writing
that Foye “asked about the test” and “why he wasn't told.”*** Wildstein responded to Durando:
“His staff knows, but bb [Baroni] will to [sic] him.”**

Around thistime, at 6:33 am., Kelly emailed Wildstein: “Let’stalk on my way in,” to
which Wildstein responded “Ok” eight minutes later.*?

At 7:14 am., Foye wrote again to Rechler, expressing his concerns: “Scott | have
inquired about this and what | have been told is very troubling. | will keep you posted. Given
possible loss of life from delay of emergency vehicles and other factors | am reversing this
immediately.” 4’

At 7:44 am., Foye ordered the reversal of the lane realignment.*®® Foye's directive was
sent by email to Fulton and Durando, copying Baroni, Rechler, and others.*® Foyewrote: “I am
appalled by the lack of process, failure to inform our customers and Fort Leg[,] and most of all
by the dangers created to the public interest, so | am reversing this decision now effective as
soon as TBT and PAPD tell meit is safe to do so today.”** Foye further explained that he
would “get to the bottom of this abusive decision which violates everything this agency stands

for,” and that he intended “to learn how PA process was wrongfully subverted and the public

69



interest damaged to say nothing of the credibility of this agency.”*** Foye asserted that the lane
realignment, which he repeatedly characterized as “hasty and ill-advised,” “violates Federal
Laws and the laws of both States.”**? |n separate emails, Baroni forwarded Foye's directive to
Wildstein at his personal email address, as well asto Regina Egea, Director of the Authorities
Unit, which works with and monitors the State’s public authorities.**® Egea later forwarded the
email to Nicole Crifo, then-Senior Counsel in the Authorities Unit, at 11:07 am.”** Foye later
forwarded the email to New Y ork Director of State Operations Howard Glaser, at 12:20 p.m.**®

At 8:04 am., the Bridge'stoll lanes were realigned and the three toll lanes and booths
formerly dedicated for Fort Lee traffic were restored.*** Foye emailed Baroni and Lisa
MacSpadden soon after, asking how the Port Authority could publicize the lane restoration.**’
The following email conversation between Baroni and Foye ensued:

Bill Baroni:  Pat we need to discuss prior to any communications.
Pat Foye: Bill we are going to fix this fiasco.
Bill Baroni: | am on my way to office to discuss. There can be no public discourse.

Pat Foye: Bill EQBat’ s precisely the problem: there has been no public discourse on
this.

A few hours later, around 10:30 am., Governor Christie, having returned to Seaside,
New Jersey, held amedia briefing regarding the Seaside Boardwalk fire.**®

At 11:44 am., in response to the news of the lane restoration, Wildstein emailed Kelly on
their personal email accounts. “The New Y ork side gave Fort Lee back all three lanes this
morning. We are appropriately going nuts. Samson helping us to retaiate.” **° Kelly responded:
“What??"*" Wildstein responded: “Yes, unreal. Fixed now.”*?

In response to press inquiries, the Port Authority released the following comment,

provided by Baroni and approved by Foye: “The Port Authority has conducted aweek of study
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at the George Washington Bridge of traffic safety patterns. We will now review those results
and determine the best traffic patterns at the GWB. We will continue to work with our local law
enforcement partners.”**

As Baroni had aready forwarded Foye' s email to Egea by 10:44 a.m. on September 13,
2013,*** Egea and Baroni spoke that day by phone about Foye's email. During their phone
conversation, Egea asked Baroni about Foye' s email. In response, Baroni explained to Egeathat
the Port Authority was simply doing atraffic study to investigate potential inefficienciesin the
current lane alignment. Because Foye' s email was laced with accusations, Egea asked if the Port
Authority had done anything wrong, and Baroni responded that nothing inappropriate had
occurred. Egeawas reassured by Baroni’ s explanation.

At or around this time, Jeanne Ashmore, Director of Constituent Relations in the
Governor’s Office, recalled speaking with Wildstein and Crifo by phone to discuss various
constituent complaints the Office had received regarding the lane realignment and resulting
traffic congestion.** When asked about the traffic congestion, Wildstein told Ashmore, in sum

or substance, that this was not an issue concerning the Governor’s Office.

3. September 14, 2013-January 8, 2014: Aftermath Of TheLane
Realignment

a. September 14-19, 2013: Outside Scrutiny And Communications
With Mayor Sokolich

At 8:42 am., on September 14, 2013, the lane realignment—specifically, Cichowski’s
September 13, 2013 “Road Warrior” column, “Closed tollbooths a commuting disaster”—was
mentioned for the first time in the Office’s“Must Reads,” daily press clips circulated throughout
the Office.** Earlier that morning, at 8:18 am., Kelly wrote to Wildstein through their personal

email accounts: “Check out the Road Warrior. I'm confused.”*’" Meanwhile, having cancelled
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aplanned trip to Floridawith hiswife for her birthday, Governor Christie returned to Seaside
Park, New Jersey, to meet with business owners affected by the boardwalk fire.*®

On September 16, 2013, Wall Street Journal reporter Ted Mann called Port Authority
media relations “looking to do a story on the Fort Lee toll booth issue.”**® Mann’sinquiry was

450 Wildstein then emailed Baroni at his personal

reported to Foye, Baroni, Wildstein, and others.
email account: “I call bullshit on this.”**

One day later, at 2:16 p.m. on September 17, 2013, in connection with the same story,
Wall Street Journal reporter Heather Haddon emailed Drewniak and Colin Reed, Deputy
Communications Director at the Governor’s Office, requesting comment on the lane
realignment.”* At 4:03 p.m., Drewniak forwarded Haddon' s inquiry to Kelly: “Coming to
chat.”*® At 4:08 p.m., Kelly asked Drewniak to “[c]ome soon[.] Haveto go get my kids.”**
Twenty-six minutes later, at 4:34 p.m., Drewniak responded to Haddon:

Pardon? It's an independent agency, and I'll refer you to the Port Authority.

Traffic studies or pilots are done all the time. They’re temporary, and if they’'re

not done, how can the effectiveness of a new approach be tested? (Between you

and me, please: | could be wrong, but | think they don’'t warn of traffic studiesin

advance because it would ruin the data. | heard that somewhere — in [sic] think
when DOT did something similar in Princeton. But I’m not sure on this).*°

At 5:13 p.m., Kelly texted Wildstein: “I spoketo Mike.”*® At 11:12 p.m., The Wall Street
Journal published itsfirst article regarding the lane realignment, “Bridge Jam’'s Cause a
Mystery.”*’

Very early the next morning, on September 18, 2013, Wildstein had separate email
exchanges about the Wall Street Journal article with Stepien and Drewniak. At 4:54 am.,

Wildstein forwarded the article to Stepien’s personal email account.”® At 5:16 am., Stepien

responded: “It’sfine. The mayor isan idiot, though. When [sic] some, lose some.”**° At 5:30
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am., Wildstein responded to Stepien: “| had empty boxes ready to take to work today, just in
case. It will be atough November for this little Serbian.”*®°

Separately, aso at 4:54 am., Wildstein forwarded the article to Drewniak’ s work
email.*** At 7:35 am., Drewniak responded: “Not so bad. At least it doesn’t run wild with that
crazy allegation it was done as political retaliation. That was anutty suggestion.”*? At 9:24
am., Wildstein responded: “I was unusually nervous over this one.” %%

The Wall Street Journal article appears to have provoked conflict within the Port
Authority. The night before the article’s publication, at 8:02 p.m. on September 17, 2013,
Samson wrote Rechler: “1 am told the ED [Foye] leaked to the WSJ his story about Fort Lee
issues—very unfortunate for NY/NJ relations.”*®* Rechler responded: “After my initial calls|
don’t think thisis correct. | also called Baroni who didn’t think this was the case.”*® Samson
forwarded this email chain to Baroni, who responded: “General, | shall again make my concern
known to the vice chairman.” %

Samson then wrote to Rechler: “For whatever reason, he' s [Baroni] not telling you the
facts.”*" Rechler responded: “Seems strange based on my inquiries.”*® After the Wall Street
Journal article was published, at 5:34 am. on September 18, 2013, Samson, apparently believing
Foye responsible for instigating, responded: “More evidence of reckless, counter-productive
behavior.”*° Rechler responded: “Again . . .| don't think Pat spoke to anyone at the WSJ
particularly after reading the article this morning.”*"® Samson responded: “I just read it and it
confirms evidence of Foy€e' s being the leak, stirring up trouble—thisis yet another example of a
story, we' ve seen it before, where he distances himself from an issue in the press and ridesin on
n471

awhite horseto savetheday . . .. [I]nthis case, he's playing in traffic, made a big mistake.

Rechler told Samson that he did not “agree with your assessment of Pat’sinvolvement . . .. Let's
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not escalate this unless there is clear evidence that he truly spoke to the WSJ.”#"? Samson then

forwarded this email chain to Baroni.*”®

* k k * %

During this same period, Mayor Sokolich continued to try to communicate with Baroni.

On September 17, 2013, at 1:33 p.m., Baroni forwarded Wildstein a message from Mayor

Sokolich, and the following text messages ensued:

Bill Baroni:

David Wildstein:

Bill Baroni:

David Wildstein:

Bill Baroni:

David Wildstein:

Bill Baroni:

David Wildstein:

From Serbia

We should talk. Someone needs to tell me that the recent traffic
debacle was not punitive in nature. The last four reporters that
contacted me suggest that the people they are speaking with
absolutely believe it to be punishment. Try as| may to dispel these
rumors | am having atough time. A private face-to-face would be
important to me. Perhaps someone can enlighten me as to the
errors of my ways. Let me know if you'll give me 10 minutes.
Regards Mark

[...]

Serbia???

Have not heard back fr Bridget
Fck

Bridget; Just finishing a meeting
So we will speak soon.

We could sched a meeting to stave off reporters then pull afaps
Like for Monday?

Too cute. Tuesday or later next week.

Ok

[...]

Ted Mann just called my cell
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Bill Baroni: Jesus.
Call Drewniak.

David Wildstein: Can you step put [sic], I’ll meet you in board room.*™
Wildstein then sent to Kelly, by text message, Mayor Sokolich’s message to Baroni, and asked
her to “[p]lease let me know instructions.”*”® Wildstein informed Kelly that Baroni was
“crazed”; Wildstein also noted that The Wall Street Journal had just called his cell phone, “so |
need to speak with you.”*"® At 2:42 p.m., Kelly texted Wildstein: “I am calling your office. No
answer.”*"" At 5:13 p.m., Kelly texted Wildstein: “I spoke to Mike.”*"

On September 23, 2013, Ashmore received aletter from Senator Weinberg, dated
September 19, 2013, to Port Authority Commissioner William “Pat” Schuber regarding the lane

479 Senator Weinberg expressed her “loss for words regarding the Authority’s

realignment.
sudden change in the traffic flow pattern,” which *caused a significant hardship for many in the
area”*®® That same day, Ashmore forwarded Senator Weinberg's letter to Kelly and Crifo.**
Kelly forwarded the letter to her personal email account and then re-forwarded the letter to
Wildstein on his personal email account.”®? Six minutes later, Wildstein responded: “Call me
1483

during your drive home.

b. October 1, 2013: Second Wall Street Journal Article

On October 1, 2013, Wall Street Journal reporter Ted Mann was working on a second
article about the lane realignment. That afternoon, Mann called the Port Authority press office
“questioning [Port Authority’ s] prior statement on this issue that said the toll lanes were closed
because of atest when he [Mann] has a copy of an email that Pat sent at 7:44 a.m. on September
13.. . . that says otherwise.”*®* Wildstein received areport of Mann'sinquiry at 1:12 p.m., which

Wildstein then forwarded to Drewniak at 1:19 p.m.*®
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Two minutes later, at 1:21 p.m., Mann emailed Drewniak directly to request comment.*®
Mann wrote: “We' ve confirmed that many of the stakeholders were not told this was being
done, including police, local officials and the Port Authority’ s executive director.”**” Requesting
comment, Mann asked “whether these closures were in some way intended as retribution for
Mayor Sokolich’s failure to endorse Gov. Christie’ s re-election bid.” %

At 1:40 p.m., Drewniak forwarded Mann’sinquiry to his supervisor, Deputy Chief of
Staff for Communications and Planning Maria Comella, copying Reed, and wrote: “I think we
should talk about this below from Ted Mann, WSJ. | will forward you an earlier email | had sent
to Heather when they did their first story on this.”*®* Two minutes later, at 1:42 p.m., Drewniak
forwarded Comella and Reed a copy of his September 17, 2013 email to Haddon regarding the
first Wall Street Journal article about the lane realignment.*® At 1:45 p.m., Wildstein forwarded
to Drewniak Foye' s September 13, 2013 emall reversing the lane realignment; Drewniak then
forwarded Foye's email to Comella; Comella forwarded it to Reed.**

About an hour later, at 2:49 p.m., Drewniak provided aresponse to Mann: “| answered
this a couple of weeks ago. The Port Authority is an independent agency, and | would refer you
there about its traffic studies.”**

At 5:48 p.m., Stepien texted Wildstein: “Holy shit, who does he think heis, Capt.

493

America?’, apparently referring to Foye.™ Wildstein responded: “Bad guy. Welcome to our

world[.]"4%*
At 10:40 p.m., The Wall Street Journal published its second article regarding the lane
realignment, “Port Chief Fumed Over Bridge Jam.” That article was based on Foye's September

13, 2013 email, which was leaked to the Journal and reproduced at the time.**
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Early the next morning, at 7:11 am. on October 2, 2013, Wildstein forwarded the Wall
Street Journal articleto Stepien.**® At 7:15 am., Stepien responded: “I saw. Ultimately, not an
awful story. Whatever.”*" At 7:36 am., Wildstein replied:

Y eah, but we need to address leaks from Foye and his messing with us 5 weeks

before election. Baroni and | are at statehouse this afternoon — need to be sure all

understand that a trash train bringing NY C garbage by rail through Westfield, east

Brunswick, etc is a very bad idea — and will talk to Drewniak and Bridget while

there. | feel terrible that I'm causing you so much stress this close to

November.*®
At 7:43 am., Stepien responded: “For what it’s worth, | like you more on October 2, 2013 than |
did on October 2, 2009.”**° At that latter time, Wildstein was an anonymous political blogger.

That afternoon, Wildstein and Baroni visited the State House in Trenton, New Jersey. It
appears that they were scheduled to meet with Egea and Crifo at 3:00 p.m., but Egea had to
cancel the meeting because another more significant meeting about pending legislation arose.*®
Wildstein and Baroni met with Kelly and possibly Drewniak at around 3:15 p.m.>*

At 3:45 p.m., Baroni texted Wildstein: “Comelladidn’t think much of the story. Said
nobody paying attention.”** Wildstein responded: “Bridget same. What did general want?°®
Later that night, Wildstein asked Baroni by email: “Did you hear from Charlie?"***

The October 1, 2013 Wall Street Journal article prompted a number of conversations
within the Office of the Governor. At around thistime, Crifo spoke to Wildstein regarding
Foye's September 13, 2013 email. In that conversation, Wildstein told her—as he had others at
the Port Authority and within IGA years earlier—that it had “aways bothered us’ that Fort Lee
had three dedicated lanes and that the traffic study was designed to determine the effect of a
realignment of those lanes.

The day after the October 1, 2013 Wall Street Journal article, Drewniak spoke to Kelly

about it. Drewniak went to Kelly because of Kelly’s position dealing with local elected officials
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and also her inclusion on the September 12, 2013 email from Wildstein. Drewniak recalled that
when he asked Kelly about the October 1, 2013 Wall Sreet Journal article, Kelly brushed off the
inquiry, rolling her eyes, and did not acknowledge knowing anything about the lane realignment.

Finaly, the Governor recalled seeing an article about the internal Foye email—in all
likelihood, the October 1, 2013 Wall Street Journal article—and the email itself. The
accusations there concerned the Governor: he wanted to know what really happened, particularly
because the Foye email claimed violations of law. The Governor recalled McKennathereafter
telling him that M cKenna had spoken with Baroni, who told McKennathat the Port Authority
was simply doing atraffic study and that Foye was making a big deal about nothing.

c. October—November 2013: Ongoing L egidative And Media
Inquiries

On the very next day after this second Wall Street Journal article, October 2, 2013, in the
month prior to the election, Assemblyman Wisniewski announced that he would convene a
hearing to determine who ordered the lane realignment and if they were politically motivated.®
During the next few days, Wildstein and Kelly continued to communicate by private text and
email, forwarding one another articles about the lane realignment and commenting on the
articles.®® On October 3, 2013, for example, Kelly texted Wildstein that Mayor Sokolich had
referred to the lane realignment as a“ dumb mistake” in an October 2, 2013 Bergen Record
article™” That article also referenced Mayor Sokolich’s statement that “ he doesn’t believe the
closures had anything to do with him.”>®

In early October, Senator Weinberg asked the Port Authority that she be afforded the
opportunity to make a statement at a Port Authority Governance and Ethics Committee meeting

scheduled for October 7, 2013.>® Baroni contacted Egeato discuss Senator Weinberg' s request

as public comments are generally only allowed during Port Authority Board meetings, not
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Committee meetings. Egea discussed the issue with Crifo and concluded that there was no
guidance one way or another as to whether allowing public comment was required or
permissible. Egeatherefore deferred to McKennato advise Baroni. On October 5, 2013,
McKenna advised Baroni that because Senator Weinberg was a sitting legislator, she should be
afforded the courtesy of addressing the Committee meeting.>° One day later, October 6, 2013,
Kelly forwarded to Wildstein an article regarding Senator Weinberg' s upcoming appearance at

the Port Authority committee meeting.”**

Wildstein responded: “Baroni spoke to McKennaover
weekend, Lorettawill speak at start of committee meeting (even though there is no public
comment at this meeting) and Schuber is chairing.”>'? After Weinberg had addressed the
committee, on the afternoon of October 7, 2013, Steve Strunsky of The Star-Ledger sought
comment from Drewniak, asking “whether Port Authority ‘Frat Boys had orchestrated the

closures as retrobution [sic] for Mayor Sokolich’s refusal to endorse Gov. Christie.” "

Drewniak then forwarded Strunsky’ sinquiry to O’ Dowd.”™

On October 16, 2013, the Port Authority held a monthly board meeting, after which Foye
announced that the Port Authority was conducting an internal review to determine why the lanes
were realigned and whether proper procedures were followed.”™ Senator Weinberg attended the
Port Authority meeting and announced her intent to introduce a Senate resolution to grant
subpoena power to a special committee to investigate the Bridge lane realignment.>® Afterward,

Egea sent O’ Dowd, McKenna, and Drewniak areport on the meeting:

Sen Weinberg attended bd mtg but did not speak. Had a hallway conv w Strunsky
and Ted Mann before bd mtg. After Bd mtg, she was admitted into ante room
where the press gaggle is held. Typicaly only press and PANY NJ exec team.
Questions ensued on ft lee but holding to script of “all under review.” She held
post interview in hallway.>"’

On October 17, 2013, at 7:53 p.m., Wildstein forwarded Drewniak an email chain

regarding a press inquiry from Wall Sreet Journal reporter Ted Mann.>*® In this email chain,
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Coleman forwarded a summary of Mann’sinquiry to Foye, Baroni, Wildstein, and others, stating
that: “Ted said he was told by sources that David [Wildstein] wasin Fort Lee directing the lane
closure operation on Sept 9 and Ted is asking why he was there. He plansto include this
information in his story tomorrow.”>** To Coleman’s summary, Foye responded: “Defer to
Bill.”>®® While forwarding this email chain to Drewniak, Wildstein commented: “DIRECTING
lane closures would be grossly inaccurate. Foye isapiece of crap.”>** Two hours later, at
9:48 p.m., Drewniak, using his personal cellphone, texted O’ Dowd on his personal cellphone:
“A new high level of shit is hitting the fan tonight on the Ft Lee/GWB issue. Maybe you should
know about it.”>** The Wall Street Journal did not publish an article on the lane realignment on
October 18, 2013.

Twelve days later, on October 28, 2013, Strunsky of The Star-Ledger emailed Drewniak
to inquire about the lane realignment.®® Strunsky cited Mayor Sokolich’s September 12, 2013
letter to Baroni, as well as speculation that Mayor Sokolich’s decision not to endorse Governor
Christie for re-election was the reason for the lane realignment.®* Specifically, Strunsky asked
whether the Governor was aware of any plan “to close GWB access lanes in retrobution [sic] for
Mayor Sokolich’s failure to endorse the governor for re-election.”®® Drewniak responded: “No,
for goodness sake. The Governor of the State of New Jersey does not involve himself in traffic
studies.” >

Eight days after the Star-Ledger inquiry, on November 6, 2013, Wall Street Journal
reporter Mann emailed Drewniak again to ask about the lane realignment.>*’ Drewniak
forwarded Mann'sinquiry to Reed and Comella, commenting: “It's back.”>*® He also forwarded
the email to his personal email account and re-forwarded it to Wildstein at his personal email

address; they agreed to speak “within the next hour.”®® That afternoon, Drewniak responded to
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Mann’'s email: “For goodness sake, the Governor of the State of New Jersey does not involve
himself in traffic surveys.”>*® Thefollowing day, on November 7, 2013, The Wall Street Journal
identified Wildstein as having “called two bridge officials and [having] ordered them to shut of f
two local accesstoll lanes for drivers headed across the bridge from Fort Lee, N.J., into New
York City . . . without notice to police, emergency officials or officials on the New Y ork side of
the Port Authority’ s leadership.”>*!

On November 7, 2013, New Jersey State Senators Weinberg and Raymond J. Lesniak
introduced New Jersey Senate Resolution 127—which would have constituted the Senate State
Government, Wagering, Tourism, and Historic Preservation Committee (the “ Senate State
Government Committee”) as a special committee of the New Jersey Senate—to “investigate all
aspects of lane closures implemented by the Port Authority of New Y ork and New Jersey,
including, but not limited to, the recent closure of two access lanes from Fort Lee to the George
Washington Bridge, the internal process followed by the Port Authority in implementing lane
closures, and the use of lane closures as atool to conduct traffic safety studies.”>* For these
purposes, Resolution 127 would have granted subpoena power to the Senate State Government
Committee.®* Lado forwarded Resolution 127 to Samson, Baroni, and Wildstein.>*

At 7:24 p.m. on November 12, 2013, Baroni texted Wildstein: “Are we being fired? %
The following day, November 13, 2013, there was a Port Authority Board meeting in Jersey
City, which Baroni and Wildstein attended. That morning, Baroni texted Wildstein: “Hereally
wantsto intro gov first[.] Wisniewski coming to board[.] Another reason nj meetings are
great[.]”>* Wildstein responded: “Yep.”>*" Wildstein responded: “Update on tomorr[o]w??">%®
At 12:03 p.m., Wildstein texted Baroni: “Instructions for gaggle. . . Do we let Weinberg and

wiz attend? Can we stop them?’>** Baroni responded: “How do we stop them? It just creates

81



an issug.]”>* Wildstein responded: “I don’t see how but need to ask you[.]”>*" Baroni
responded: “Y eah they will beat us up either way.”>*

That same day, November 13, 2013, The Sar-Ledger published an article about the lane
realignment, “Fort Lee mayor asserts GWB bridge closures had * punitive overtones,”” which
suggested that the lane realignment “ might have had to do with the mayor’ s failure to support
Gov. Chris Christie’ s re-election campaign.”>* In response, Mayor Sokolich wrote a letter to the
editor, stating that he had read the article “with disappointment” and that the article’ s suggestion
“issimply not true.”>** Mayor Sokolich wrote: “| have consistently and without deviation stated
on the record that in no way do | believe that these lane closures are aresult of my refusal to
support the governor. Infact, | advised you that | was never asked to either support or endorse
the governor.”>*

Also on November 13, 2013, Senator Weinberg filed a public records request with the
Port Authority seeking information and documents relating to the lane realignment.>*® Weinberg
followed up afew days letter with an open letter to the Port Authority asking if the lane
Kk.” 547

realignment was “someone’ sidea of areally bad joke or for some petty political paybac

d. November 25, 2013: Baroni Testifies Before The Assembly
Committee

On November 20, 2013, the Assembly Transportation Committee invited Baroni to
testify on November 25, 2013, at 10:00 am.>*® Leading up to the hearing, a draft of Baroni’s
opening statement was provided to Egea and Crifo for review because of the Authorities Unit's
role in monitoring the Port Authority. They reviewed a draft of his opening statement and
provided comments, primarily in a November 19, 2013 conference call among Egea, Crifo,
Baroni, Wildstein, and Philippe Danielides, Senior Advisor to Port Authority Chairman David

Samson. The comments, conveyed by Egea, mainly suggested that Baroni’ s opening statement
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be shorter and simpler, and that he should confine his remarks to the portions of his draft
statement focused on how the Port Authority was studying optimization of traffic through the
realignment of a set number of toll lanes. Egea also suggested that Baroni focus on the traffic
study results, which were in the prepared opening statement that Egea had reviewed; Egea
recalled the traffic study results for Tuesday and Wednesday, September 10 and 11, 2013,
showed improvements in [-95 traffic flow. Egea also encouraged Baroni to acknowledge error in
failing to follow the Port Authority’s normal protocols for communicating the Port Authority’s
operational decisions.>*

Crifo also participated in reviewing Baroni’ s draft opening statement. Crifo shared
Egea’ s view that Baroni’s testimony should focus on the concrete underlying facts as Egea and
Crifo understood them from what Wildstein and Baroni had told them: that the Port Authority
had conducted a poorly communicated traffic study. In addition, Crifo understood it would have
been counterintuitive for the Port Authority to tell people about the study beforehand because it
might have skewed the data.

Egea advised McKennathat Baroni would be testifying, as she would normally do
whenever any senior official was addressing a legislative committee, and that she was advising
him to be clearer and more concise in his opening statement.>® McKenna also spoke to Baroni
about histestimony. After Baroni provided McKennawith a brief report on his intended
testimony, McKenna made two recommendations to Baroni: first, not to be combative with the
Committee; and second, to apologize to the people of Fort Lee who were stuck in traffic,
regardless of the merits of the traffic study. Around thistime, the Governor heard that there was
an issue as to whether Baroni should appear before the Committee without a subpoena; the

Governor’ s reaction was that Baroni should appear and testify before the committee.
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On November 21, 2013, Baroni asked Wildstein to provide the “exact upper level number
of lanes from tomorrw” [sic].>™>* Wildstein responded: “Will take gw bridge to work.”>>? On the
morning of November 25, 2013, Wildstein sent Kelly, through their personal email accounts, E-
Z Pass Registration statistics for eastbound traffic on the George Washington Bridge, which
stated that 4.5 percent of eastbound vehicles were registered from Fort Lee.>* Wildstein also
wrote that committing “25% of all lanes (3 of 12) out of circulation for Fort Lee backs up truck
traffic from Route 4, 46, 80 and 95, causing delays.” >

On November 25, 2013, Baroni addressed the Assembly Transportation Committee.>>
Given the increased media and legidlative scrutiny of the lane realignment, certain employees of
the Governor’ s Office listened to Baroni’ s November 25 testimony. For example, Egea and
Crifo listened to the testimony live-streamed through their computers, while McKenna had the
testimony streaming in the background.

According to Egea, Baroni’ s opening remarks diverged from the remarks he had earlier
drafted and he did not follow Egea’ s advice. In histestimony, Baroni provided traffic statistics
and explained that Wildstein requested the lane realignment as part of atraffic study “to
determine whether the Fort Lee lanes were causing a clear and marked increase in Bridge traffic
for the 95 percent of driverswho” do not reside in Fort Lee.®™® Baroni stated that Wildstein had
been approached by Port Authority Police in late July 2013 and met with Port Authority officials
inthe TBT and Traffic Engineering Departments in August 2013 to review information relating
to the Fort Lee access lanes.>’ Thiswas the first time that a Port Authority representative
publicly held Wildstein responsible for having ordered the lane realignment. Baroni further
stated that “[a]t all times during the week of the study, the Port Authority Police Department

monitored traffic on the George Washington Bridge. They were aert for emergency vehiclesin



the area, and prepared to further alter traffic patterns in the event of an emergency.”>*® Baroni
acknowledged that the Port Authority’ s communication with Fort Lee officials with respect to
the lane realignment had been flawed: “[T]he Port Authority did not provide timely notice of the
lane closure to the Fort Lee Police Department, nor secure the complete buy-in from the entire
agency before proceeding. These communications breakdowns are not consistent with the Port
Authority’ s commitment to transparency, and we must—and we will—do better.”>*® Baroni also
proposed policy changes to the Port Authority to ensure that traffic studies and other non-
emergency changes are properly reviewed and that proper notice is provided prior to
implementation.®

At 12:45 p.m., based on reading real-time news reports, Drewniak sent Wildstein an
email with subject line: *“Seemsto be going okay overall.” Inthe email, Drewniak wrote:
“With the question raised: how to justify 3 lanes for arelatively small number of commuters.
Even [Wisniewski] had to acknowledge that, right?"*** Fifteen minutes |ater, Wildstein
responded: “Most importantly Gov was not brought in to this.” >

After the hearing, Baroni asked Wildstein for feedback.”®® Wildstein responded: “PAPD
said all wasfing[.] Youdid great[.]” Baroni asked, “Trenton feedback”? Wildstein responded:
“Good[.] O’ Toole statement ready.” Baroni responded: “Just good? Shit.” Wildstein
responded: “1 have only texted brudget [sic] and Nicole they were VERY happy. . .. Both said
you are doing great[.] Charlie said you did GREAT[.]”** Crifo told Wildstein she thought
Baroni’ s testimony went well, but in fact, she was frustrated that Baroni had not said that the
purpose of atraffic study isto assess the actual impact on existing traffic flows, and that
publicizing the traffic study beforehand might have skewed the data. The Governor asked

McKenna how the testimony went and McKennatold the Governor that it went fine. McKenna
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advised the Governor that Baroni shared the evidence of the traffic study and apologized for not
having discussed the plan with Foye. Contrary to what Wildstein reported to Baroni, though,
McKennadid not tell Wildstein or anyone else that Baroni did “great.” In fact, McKenna
thought Baroni was too combative.

On November 26, 2013, at 9:15 am., Stepien texted Baroni: “Hey, great job yesterday. |
know it’s not afun topic, and not nearly as fun as beating up on [the late U.S. Senator] Frank
L autenberg, but you did great, and | wanted to thank you.”*®® Thirty-six minutes |ater, Baroni
responded: “Thanks William. Lorettaand wiswill keep their nonsense but at least we have
explained the counter narrative.”>®

Two days after Baroni’ s testimony, on November 27, 2013, Assemblyman Wisniewski
described Baroni’ s testimony as “unprofessiona” and having “created many more unanswered
questions.”*®" The Assembly Transportation Committee then subpoenaed Foye to testify at a
3.568

special hearing scheduled for December 9, 201

e. December 2, 2013: Governor’sFirst Press Conference

On December 2, 2013, Governor Christie held a press conference to nominate O’ Dowd
asthe State’ s next Attorney General and to appoint Egea as his next Chief of Staff to replace
O'Dowd.”® During the Q& A at the press conference, the Governor was asked about the lane
realignment and, consistent with his understanding at the time that this was an insignificant and
irrelevant event, he joked: “Unbeknownst to everybody. . . | actually was the guy working the
cones out there.”>™ Later in his response, the Governor stated: “I didn’t work the cones, just so
we're clear on that. That was sarcastic.”>" He also stated that he did not know that three toll
lanes were dedicated to local traffic from Fort Lee “until all this stuff happened” and that he

572

would encourage the Port Authority to review that policy.””= With respect to Mayor Sokolich,

Governor Christie commented: “To the best of my knowledge | don’t know if I’ ve ever met the
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mayor of Fort Lee. | may have met him once. So the fact that he didn’t endorse me came as no,
you know, wild shock to me.”>"®

The December 2, 2013 press conference occasioned increased media attention. For
example, in aDecember 4, 2013 Associated Press report, the head of the Port Authority police
union, Nunziato, commented to the press that “ he [had] suggested to David Wildstein . . . that
traffic patterns at the bridge be studied. He characterized as‘aload of garbage’ an internal email
from [Foye] . . . in which Foye harshly criticized the closures.”>”* Nunziato stated that there was
no “ambulance delay” or “police service delay,” and that the Port Authority had not, in his 26
years experience, “communicate[d] to Fort Lee what we do up there.”>"

Following a Port Authority board meeting on December 4, 2013 Crifo met with Samson,
Foye, Baroni, and Danielides. Samson confirmed that Foye would testify at the December 9

Assembly Committee hearing.

f. December 4, 2013: Wildstein And Drewniak Have Dinner

On December 3, 2013, at 10:51 p.m., Wildstein, who was socially friendly with
Drewniak, wrote Drewniak that he needed “to talk to you soon, in person, once you get caught
up and have some time.”>"® The following morning, at 8:15 am. on December 4, 2013,
Drewniak asked Wildstein if he wanted to meet for dinner that evening in New Brunswick, New
Jersey. Wildstein and Drewniak agreed to meet that evening.>”’

McKennarecalled Drewniak telling him about this planned dinner later that day.
Specifically, McKennarecalled that Drewniak sought McKenna s guidance as to how Drewniak
should approach the subject of Wildstein’s continued employment. By that time, it was apparent
Wildstein would be asked to step down at the Port Authority. It had already been contemplated
by the Christie Administration that the Governor would replace his team for his second term, and

the lane realignment issue, for which Wildstein was admittedly responsible, smply accelerated
87



that time table. McKenna counseled Drewniak to use his best judgment and, if appropriate,
preview that Wildstein would likely be asked to resign his employment.

Drewniak and Wildstein had dinner on the night of December 4, 2013. The magjority of
the dinner was social, with discussion focusing on family and politics. Wildstein expressed his
concerns about his future, his position at the Port Authority, and how he was viewed in the
Governor’s Office (something with which Wildstein was preoccupied). Drewniak believed that
Wildstein would not remain in his role for much longer, and he endeavored to primarily listen to
Wildstein. Drewniak observed that Wildstein seemed anxious during the dinner. During the
dinner, Wildstein repeated to Drewniak that Kelly and Stepien had some knowledge of the traffic
study, and, for the first time, Wildstein claimed that he had mentioned the traffic study to the
Governor at a public event during the period of the lane realignment. Wildstein said this as he
reiterated that the lane realignment was his idea and a legitimate traffic study, and he never
admitted or even suggested to Drewniak that he or anyone else had any ulterior motive.

Toward the end of the dinner, Wildstein took out a packet of papers, said that these
papers were the “traffic study,” and described them. Drewniak listened to Wildstein but did not
ask questions about the study or review the documents Wildstein displayed. Drewniak did not
recall providing any particular advice to Wildstein that night, other than to sit tight and wait for
thingsto play out. Drewniak tried to keep the conversation light because he believed that
Wildstein would soon be asked to resign and that nothing that Wildstein said about the lane
realignment could change that.

The following morning, on December 5, 2013, at 8:26 am., Wildstein emailed Drewniak
to thank him for “all of your sound advice last night. | always appreciate your friendship. Spoke

with O’ Toole this morning and he will talk with you later today.”>"®
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g. December 5-6, 2013: Wildstein’s Resignation

Later that same day, December 5, 2013, Drewniak recalled going to O’ Dowd' s office
where the two of them discussed the Governor’ s second term and their futuresin the
Administration. The conversation then moved to Drewniak’s dinner with Wildstein from the
night before. At around this point, the Governor entered O’ Dowd’ s office, as he often would.
Drewniak informed O’ Dowd and the Governor that Wildstein claimed he mentioned the traffic
issue to the Governor at a public event during the period of the lane realignment. The Governor
responded that he did not recall any such comment. Drewniak asked about Stepien and Kelly.
The Governor responded that he wondered whether Stepien had disclosed everything he knew
about the lane realignment. As the conversation continued, Drewniak recalled that Governor
Christie said that Wildstein and Baroni “had to go,” and would be asked to resign soon.
According to Drewniak, the Governor also said that Gramiccioni would be replacing Baroni at
the Port Authority and that McKenna would set up meetings with Baroni and Wildstein to inform
them of their resignations. O’ Dowd recalled a similar conversation at around the same time,
although he cannot recall the specific date. O’ Dowd recalled Drewniak conveying some vague
information that Wildstein had told him about mentioning a traffic issue to the Governor at the
9/11 Memorial event. O’ Dowd recalled the Governor acknowledging that he spoke briefly with
Wildstein at the event, but did not recall any mention of atraffic study, lane realignment, or
traffic problems. O’ Dowd also recalled Drewniak commenting that Wildstein said he also told
Stepien and Kelly about this supposed exchange. The Governor recalled speaking briefly with
O’ Dowd and Drewniak about Drewniak’s dinner with Wildstein, which the Governor found
surprising because he had not realized that Drewniak and Wildstein socialized in that manner.

Thereafter, also on December 5, 2013, Drewniak was informed that M cKenna would be

seeking Wildstein' s resignation the next day. At 8:00 p.m. on December 5, 2013, Drewniak
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texted McKenna: “Charlie, it's Mike. Did you make the calls with Wildstein and Baroni? | was
with the Gov and discussing around 5.”°"° At 9:25 p.m., McKennaresponded: “I will talk to
Wildstein tomorrow morning and Bill next week.” >

On December 6, 2013, McKenna drove to the Governor’ s Office in Newark, New Jersey,
to meet with Wildstein at 10:00 am. At the beginning of the meeting, McKennatold Wildstein,
“You know where thisis going,” and that he had until 2:00 p.m. to resign. Wildstein did not
seem surprised by the news. Wildstein told McKennathat the lane realignment was his “idea.”

On the afternoon of December 6, 2013, Drewniak sent Wildstein two versions of a draft
statement from the Governor’s Office regarding Wildstein' s resignation.”®! Drewniak explained
that he was “trying to balance interests here and the fact that Maria and Charlie gave approval to
the earlier one. | don’t intend to bring it back to them, so | can’t go much further.”>** Drewniak
forwarded a draft statement to Governor Christie; at 3:51 p.m., Governor Christie sent a dlightly
revised statement back to Drewniak, adding a phrase thanking Wildstein for his service.®® At
5:14 p.m., Drewniak sent Bergen Record reporter Shawn Boburg arevised statement,
“attributable to me.” Drewniak then forwarded his email to Boburg to Drewniak’ s own personal
email account, and then re-forwarded the email to Wildstein, explaining “[t]his was my revised —
which | sent to the Gov and he approved (no Mariaor Charlie).”>**

In his December 6, 2013 resignation letter to Baroni, Wildstein wrote: “My plan wasto
leave the agency at some point next year, but the Fort Lee issue has been adistraction, and |

think it's better to move on earlier.”>® At thistime, Wildstein's resignation was to be effective

on or about December 31, 2013.

90



h. December 9, 2013: Foye And Other Port Authority Officials
Testify Before The Assembly Committee

On December 9, 2013, Fulton, Durando, and Foye testified at a specia hearing before the
Assembly Transportation Committee.*® Individuals in the Governor’s Office were aware of the
scheduled testimony, and a number listened to the hearing, in whole or in part. Egeaand Crifo
listened to most of the hearing; Gramiccioni and McKenna listened to portions of the testimony,
as did the Governor while eating lunch.

Fulton, Director of Tunnels, Bridges, and Terminals, testified that Wildstein informed
him on the morning of September 6, 2013, by telephone that Wildstein had given Durando a
“directive” to commence atraffic “study” and “implement the closure” on Monday, September
9, 2013.%" Asked whether such a directive was “unprecedented,” Fulton responded: “1’ve never
participated in a process like that before.”>®® Fulton testified that he urged Wildstein to tell Foye
and Fort Lee officials about the lane realignment on September 6, 2013, and again on September
9, 2013.°* Regarding notification to Foye, Fulton stated that Wildstein told him: “Don’t worry
about it; we'll take care of that”; regarding notification to Mayor Sokolich and Fort Lee Police
Chief Bendul, Fulton stated that Wildstein told him “[n]ot to worry about that.”>® Fulton
testified that he told Wildstein in a second telephone conversation on September 6, 2013, that the
lane realignment “will not end well” because of likely traffic congestion, to which Wildstein
responded that it was appropriate to conduct a“test to understand” the potential benefitsto all
motorists from the realignment.>**

Durando, General Manager of the George Washington Bridge, testified that Wildstein
called him on the morning of September 6, 2013, to direct the lane realignment, which Wildstein

presented as a “traffic study.”** Durando said that Wildstein instructed him not to “speak to

anyone in Fort Lee” because it would ostensibly “impact the study,” and that he complied with
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this directive because he was “ concerned about . . . Mr. Wildstein's reaction.”*** Durando
testified that if there was atraffic study, it had not resulted in any report of which he was
aware.®

Foye testified that he deemed the lane realignment “an ill-advised operation” that did not
meet the “ standards we employ when atraffic alteration is contemplated at any of our facilities,”
and “ bypassed normal operating procedures, without proper transparency and openness.” >
Foye testified that Wildstein “made the decision on or about September 5” to realign the Fort Lee
access |anes, but “failed to provide notice” to Port Authority leadership or Fort Lee officials.>®
Foye testified that he was “not aware of any traffic study” and did not know “why” the lane
realignment “was done.”>*” Foye also noted that “ procedures have been put in place to prevent
future solitary employees making arbitrary decisions. . . . | am confident that what occurred that
week cannot recur.”**® Foye did not identify specific procedural safeguards that have since been

implemented.™®

i. TheWeek Of December 9-13, 2013: Investigations Of TheLane
Realignment Expand

On December 10, 2013, Port Authority Inspector General Robert VVan Etten commenced
an investigation of the lane realignment at the letter request of New Jersey State Senator Richard
Codey, dated November 27, 2013.5® Foye forwarded Senator Codey’ s | etter to Governor
Cuomo’ s Director of Operations Howard Glaser, Governor Cuomo’s Chief of Staff Joshua
Vlasto, and Governor Cuomo’s Communications Director Melissa DeRosa; Glaser then
forwarded the letter to Larry Schwartz, Secretary to Governor Cuomo.®*

On December 12, 2013, the Assembly Transportation Committee issued seven additional
subpoenas requesting documents and communications from the following Port Authority

officials: Baroni, Foye, Wildstein, Fulton, Durando, Licorish, and Nunziato.*%
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In addition, at some point between December 9 and 11, 2013, the Governor spoke on the
telephone to Michael DuHaime, a political consultant who worked on the re-election campaign,
about the growing controversy surrounding the lane realignment issue. DuHaime mentioned that
he had recently spoken to Wildstein, who told him that the traffic study was Wildstein’s idea and
that Wildstein would take responsibility for it. Wildstein also told DuHaime that Wildstein
would not have proceeded with this traffic study without approval, and that Kelly and Stepien
had known about it. DuHaime, who had no prior knowledge or involvement in this lane
realignment decision, found what Wildstein said to be surprising. In response, the Governor told
DuHaime that he would talk to Stepien.

j. December 12, 2013: Gramiccioni Communicates With Bar oni

In the days leading up to December 12, 2013, Gramiccioni wasin regular contact with
Baroni in order to prepare for her transition to the Port Authority. Although not yet publicly
announced, Gramiccioni had been asked by Governor Christie just after Election Day, November
5, 2013, to replace Baroni as Deputy Executive Director of the Port Authority for the second
term. Because Gramiccioni was friendly with Baroni since their days as law students together at
the University of VirginiaLaw School, she advised him late in November that she would be
replacing him at the Port Authority. In one of their conversations about her transition, on or
shortly before December 12, 2013, Baroni mentioned the Fort Lee traffic issue as one
Gramiccioni would inherit when she succeeded Baroni. During that conversation, Baroni told
Gramiccioni that Kelly might be on emails reflecting knowledge of the lane realignment,
although Baroni had not seen the emails. Gramiccioni understood, based on her conversation
with Baroni, that the knowledge about the lane realignment Baroni referenced was in connection
with atraffic study, not political retribution or any other ulterior motive for the lane realignment.

Gramiccioni told Baroni that he should convey this information directly to O’ Dowd and
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McKenna. After her conversation with Baroni, Gramiccioni conveyed what Baroni had told her
to O’ Dowd, McKenna, and Comella.

k. December 12, 2013: The Governor And O’Dowd M ake Further
Inquiries

On the morning of December 12, 2013, Governor Christie hosted a breakfast for New
Jersey labor leaders and members of the Port Authority police union at Drumthwacket; four
representatives from the Port Authority police union attended the breakfast, at which Kelly was
the assigned staffer and Stepien was also present. During the breakfast meeting, the Governor
did not discuss issues relating to the lane realignment with Kelly, Stepien, or any other person
attending the breakfast.

The Governor asked Stepien to meet with him after the breakfast to discuss afew issues,
and they met in the dining room following breakfast. During that meeting, Governor Christie
asked Stepien what, if anything, he knew about the lane realignment. Stepien denied having any
involvement in the lane realignment decision or its implementation. Rather, Stepien told the
Governor that Wildstein would come to him with “50 crazy ideas aweek,” and that Stepien
would remind Wildstein that Stepien was not in the Governor’ s Office anymore, so Wildstein
would have to run hisideas through the normal channels at the Governor’ s Office.

Asthe Governor was finishing his meeting with Stepien in the dining room, O’ Dowd
arrived at Drumthwacket for a meeting with the Governor on issues unrelated to the lane
realignment. O’ Dowd entered the dining room while Stepien was still there, at which point the
Go